ADC TELECOMMUNICATIONS INC Form S-3ASR December 18, 2007

Table of Contents

# As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 18, 2007 Registration No. 333-

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

# Form S-3 REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

# ADC TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Minnesota

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation )

41-0743912 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

## 13625 Technology Drive Eden Prairie, Minnesota 55344-2252 (952) 938-8080

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant s principal executive offices)

Jeffrey D. Pflaum, Esq. Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary ADC Telecommunications, Inc. 13625 Technology Drive Eden Prairie, Minnesota 55344-2252 (952) 938-8080

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Copies to:

Jay L. Swanson, Esq. Mark A. Liberman, Esq. Alan F. Denenberg, Esq. Sarah K. Solum, Esq.

Dorsey & Whitney LLP 50 South Sixth Street, Suite 1500 Minneapolis, MN 55402 (612) 340-2600 Davis Polk & Wardwell 1600 El Camino Real Menlo Park, CA 94025 (650) 752-2000

**Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public:** From time to time after the effective date of this registration statement.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box: o

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box: b

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering: o

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering: o

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction I.D. or a post-effective amendment thereto that shall become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box. b

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction I.D. filed to register additional securities or additional classes of securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box. o

# CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of Each Class of Securities to be Registered	Amount to be Registered(1)	Proposed Maximum Offering Price per Unit	Proposed Maximum Aggregate Offering Price(1)	Amount of Registration Fee(1)
Convertible Subordinated				
Notes due 2015	\$	100%	\$	\$
Convertible Subordinated				
Notes due 2017		100%		
Common Stock, par value				
\$0.20 per share(2)				
Total				

(1) An indeterminate amount of securities to be offered at indeterminate prices is being registered pursuant to this registration statement. The Registrant is deferring payment of the registration fee pursuant to Rule 456(b) and is omitting this information in reliance on Rule 456(b) and Rule 457(r).

(2) Also relates to rights to purchase shares of the Registrant s Series A Preferred Stock, no par value (the Rights ), which are attached to all shares of common stock. Until the occurrence of certain prescribed events, the Rights are not exercisable, are evidenced by certificates for the common stock and will be transferable along with and only with the shares of common stock. The value attributable to the Rights, if any, is reflected in the value of the common stock.

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

# SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED DECEMBER 18, 2007 \$400,000,000 ADC Telecommunications, Inc.

\$200,000,000	% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2015
\$200,000,000	% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2017

ADC Telecommunications, Inc. is offering \$200,000,000 of its % Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2015 (the 2015 notes ) and \$200,000,000 of its % Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2017 (the 2017 notes and, together with the 2015 notes, the notes ). We will pay interest on the notes semiannually, in arrears, on each January 15 and July 15, beginning on July 15, 2008, to the holders of record at the close of business on the preceding January 1 and July 1, respectively. The 2015 notes mature on July 15, 2015, and the 2017 notes mature on July 15, 2017.

Holders may convert their notes into a number of shares of our common stock determined as set forth in this prospectus, which we refer to as the conversion rate, at their option on any day to and including the business day prior to the maturity date. If, at the time of conversion, the applicable stock price of our common stock is less than or equal per share for the 2015 notes and \$ per share for the 2017 notes, which is referred to as the base to \$ conversion price, the 2015 notes and the 2017 notes will be convertible into shares and shares of common stock, respectively, per \$1,000 principal amount of the notes (which is equivalent to a base conversion price of approximately \$ per share for the 2015 notes and \$ per share for the 2017 notes), in each case, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events. If, at the time of conversion, the applicable stock price of our common stock exceeds the base conversion price, the conversion rate will be determined pursuant to a formula resulting in the receipt of up to an additional shares of common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of the 2015 notes and up to an additional shares of common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of the 2017 notes, in each case, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events and determined as set forth in this prospectus.

Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change, holders may require us to repurchase some or all of their notes for cash at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes being repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. In addition, if certain events constituting a fundamental change occur, we may be required in certain circumstances to increase the conversion rate for any notes converted in connection with such fundamental change by a specified number of shares of our common stock.

The notes will be our general unsecured obligations and will rank subordinate in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior indebtedness and equal in right of payment with our existing and future subordinated debt. Our obligations under the notes will not be guaranteed by, and will be effectively subordinated in right of payment to, all existing and future obligations of, our subsidiaries.

The notes are a new issue of securities for which there currently is no market. Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol ADCT. The last reported sale price of our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Select Market on December 17, 2007 was \$17.76 per share.

The underwriters have the option to purchase, within 30 days from the date of this prospectus, up to an additional \$25,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2015 notes and an additional \$25,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2017 notes solely to cover overallotments, if any, on the terms described herein.

# Investing in the notes involves risks. See Risk Factors beginning on page 8.

	Per		Per		
	2015 Note	Total	2017 Note	Total	
Public Offering Price(1)	%	\$	%	\$	
Underwriting Discount	%	\$	%	\$	
Proceeds (before expenses) to ADC	%	\$	%	\$	

(1) Plus accrued interest, if any from December , 2007, if settlement occurs after that date.

Delivery of the notes in book-entry form will be made only through The Depository Trust Company ( DTC ) on or about December , 2007.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Joint Book-Running Managers

**Morgan Stanley** 

**Credit Suisse** 

JPMorgan

Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.

The date of this prospectus is December , 2007.

In making your investment decision, you should rely only on the information contained in the prospectus, any free writing prospectus prepared by or on behalf of us and those documents incorporated by reference herein. Neither we nor the underwriters have authorized anyone to provide you with additional or different information. This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to purchase, the securities offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction to or from any person to whom or from whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation of an offer in such jurisdiction. The information in this prospectus and any document incorporated by reference may only be accurate on the date of such document.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	-
Forward-Looking Statements	i
Summary	1
Risk Factors	8
Use of Proceeds	22
Price Range of Common Stock	23
Dividend Policy	23
Capitalization	24
Description of the Notes	25
Description of Capital Stock	49
Material U.S. Federal Tax Consequences	56
Underwriting	62
Notice to Canadian Residents	66
Validity of the Securities	67
Experts	68
Where You Can Find More Information	69
Form of Underwriting Agreement	
Form of Indenture	
Form of Indenture	
Opinion of Dorsey & Whitney LLP	
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges	
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP	
Powers of Attorney	

In this prospectus, unless expressly stated otherwise or unless the context otherwise requires, ADC Telecommunications, Inc., ADC, we, us and our refer to ADC Telecommunications, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

## FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility and Qualification

This prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus contain forward-looking statements with respect to the financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, future performance and business of

Page

ADC Telecommunications, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Statements preceded by, followed by or that include words such believes or similar expressions are intended as may, will, expect. anticipate, continue, estimate, project, some of the forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and are included, along with this statement, for purposes of complying with the safe harbor provisions of that Act. These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements due to, among others, the factors described under the heading Risk Factors in this prospectus and in the filings with the SEC that we have incorporated by reference in this prospectus. Since it is not possible to foresee all such factors, you should not consider these factors to be a complete list of all risks or uncertainties.

i

# SUMMARY

This summary contains a general overview of the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. This summary may not contain all of the information that is important to you, and it is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information and historical consolidated financial statements, including the notes to those financial statements incorporated by reference in this prospectus. You should carefully consider the information contained in or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including the information set forth under the heading Risk Factors beginning on page 8 of this prospectus.

## ADC Telecommunications, Inc.

We are a leading global provider of broadband communications network infrastructure products and related services. Our products offer comprehensive solutions enabling the delivery of high-speed Internet, data, video and voice communications over wireline, wireless, cable, enterprise and broadcast networks. These products include fiber-optic, copper and coaxial based frames, cabinets, cables, connectors and cards, wireless capacity and coverage solutions, network access devices and other physical infrastructure components for communication networks.

Our products are used primarily in the last mile/kilometer of a communications network, which links Internet, data, video and voice traffic from the serving office of the communications service provider to the end-user of the communication services. These products include:

*Connectivity* products, which provide the physical interconnections between network components and network access points and connect wireline, wireless, cable, enterprise and broadcast communication networks over copper (twisted pair), co-axial, fiber-optic and wireless media.

*Wireless* products, which increase the capacity, coverage and service quality of wireless communication networks by improving signal quality.

*Wireline* products, which enable communication service providers to deliver high-capacity voice and data services over copper or optical systems.

We also provide professional services to our customers. These services help our customers plan, deploy and maintain Internet, data, video and voice communication networks. We also assist our customers in integrating broadband communications equipment used in wireline, wireless, cable and enterprise networks. By providing these services, we have additional opportunities to sell our hardware products to these customers.

Our customers consist primarily of long-distance and local communications service providers and private enterprises that operate their own communication networks. In addition, our customers include cable television operators, wireless service providers, new competitive telephone service providers, broadcasters, government agencies, system integrators and communications equipment manufacturers and distributors.

ADC was incorporated in Minnesota in 1953 as Magnetic Controls Company. We adopted our current name in 1985. Our World Headquarters are located at 13625 Technology Drive, Eden Prairie, Minnesota 55344 and our telephone number is (952) 938-8080.

## **Recent Developments**

# **Recent Acquisition of LGC Wireless, Inc.**

# Table of Contents

On December 3, 2007, we completed the acquisition of LGC Wireless, Inc. (LGC). LGC, which is headquartered in San Jose, California, is a provider of in-building wireless solution products. These products increase the quality and capacity of wireless communications networks by permitting voice and data signals to penetrate building structures and by distributing these signals evenly throughout a building. LGC also offers products that permit voice and data signals to reach remote locations.

#### Table of Contents

We acquired all of the outstanding capital stock and warrants of LGC for approximately \$135,000,000 in cash. We also made cash payments of approximately \$9,000,000 to certain holders of options to acquire LGC common stock in consideration for the cancellation of these options. In addition, we granted options to acquire ADC common stock valued at approximately \$4,000,000 to certain other LGC optionholders in exchange for their LGC options. As a result of the acquisition, we will be obligated to pay LGC transaction expenses and employee bonuses and repay certain debt, in an aggregate amount of approximately \$20,000,000. In addition, we expect to incur charges for various other acquisition-related expenses in an amount that has not yet been determined.

# Pending Acquisition of Shenzhen Century Man Communication Equipment Co., Ltd.

On November 12, 2007, we agreed to acquire Shenzhen Century Man Communication Equipment Co. and certain affiliated entities (Century Man) under the terms of a share purchase agreement. Century Man, which is headquartered in Shenzhen, China, is a provider of broadband connectivity equipment in China. Century Man s products include communication distribution frames and related accessories such as fiber connectors and cabinets.

Under the share purchase agreement, we would acquire all of the outstanding capital stock of Century Man for \$55,000,000 in cash. In addition, we may be obligated to pay up to an additional \$15,000,000 if Century Man achieves certain financial performance objectives during the 36 months following the closing of the acquisition. After completion of the transaction, we expect to incur charges for acquisition-related expenses in an amount that has not yet been determined.

The consummation of the acquisition of Century Man is subject to customary closing conditions. We expect to complete the transaction in January 2008.

2

# Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The selected consolidated statement of operations data for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of October 31, 2007 and 2006 have been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of ADC that are incorporated by reference herein, and are qualified by reference to such financial statements. The selected consolidated balance sheet data as of October 31, 2007 and 2005 have been derived from the audited financial statements. The selected consolidated balance sheet data as of October 31, 2005 have been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of ADC not incorporated by reference herein. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results. The following data includes the accounts of ADC and its consolidated subsidiaries and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, related notes and other financial information incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

	2	2007	2	rs Ended 2006 per share	2005
<b>Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:</b> Net Sales Cost of Sales	\$ 1	1,322.2 879.7	\$	1,281.7 869.0	\$ 1,128.9 703.7
Gross Profit		442.5		412.7	425.2
Operating Expenses: Research and development Selling and administration Restructuring and impairment charges		69.6 291.1 13.9		70.9 273.7 20.8	70.3 259.6 10.1
Total operating expenses		374.6		365.4	340.0
Operating Income Other Income, Net		67.9 48.7		47.3 10.3	85.2 20.8
Income Before Income Taxes Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes		116.6 3.3		57.6 (37.7)	106.0 7.2
Income from Continuing Operations Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle		113.3 (7.0)		95.3 (30.2) 0.6	98.8 11.9
Net Income	\$	106.3	\$	65.7	\$ 110.7
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding (Basic)		117.4		117.1	116.0
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding (Diluted)		131.9		117.4	131.1
Basic Income (Loss) Per Share: Continuing operations	\$	0.97	\$	0.81	\$ 0.85
Discontinued operations	\$	(0.06)	\$	(0.26)	\$ 0.10

Table of Contents

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle	\$	\$ 0.01	\$
Net income	\$ 0.91	\$ 0.56	\$ 0.95
Diluted Income (Loss) Per Share: Continuing operations	\$ 0.96	\$ 0.81	\$ 0.82
Discontinued operations	\$ (0.05)	\$ (0.26)	\$ 0.09
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle	\$	\$ 0.01	\$
Net income	\$ 0.91	\$ 0.56	\$ 0.91
3			

3

	As of October 31,						
		2007	2006 (In millions)			2005	
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:							
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	520.2	\$	142.2	\$	108.2	
Available-for-sale securities		175.4		406.1		347.4	
Total current assets		1,008.2		942.7		854.8	
Total assets		1,764.8		1,611.4		1,537.2	
Current and long-term debt		401.2		400.0		400.0	
Total liabilities		757.2		737.9		763.3	
Total shareowners investment		1,007.6		873.5		773.9	
Total liabilities and shareowners investment		1,764.8		1,611.4		1,537.2	

#### **Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges**

The following table sets forth our historical ratio of earnings to fixed charges or deficiency of earnings to fixed charges for each of our five most recent fiscal years, and our pro forma ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2007. The pro forma ratio gives effect to the offering of the notes and the use of approximately \$200 million of the net proceeds to repay our outstanding \$200 million aggregate principal amount of convertible subordinated notes due 2008 as of October 31, 2007. The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with the financial information incorporated by reference herein.

	2007	Fiscal Yea 2006	2005	October 3 2004 millions)	2003	Pro Forma Ratio Fiscal Year Ended October 31, 2007(1)
Deficiency of Earnings to Fixed Charges Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges	6.9	4.1	8.9	3.6	\$ 74.1	4.4

For purposes of computing the above ratios, earnings consist of income (loss) before income taxes, income (loss) from equity investees and fixed charges. Fixed charges consist of interest expense, amortization of premiums, discounts and capitalized expenses related to indebtedness and interest within rental expense.

(1) For purposes of computing the pro forma ratio for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2007, income (loss) before income taxes was reduced and fixed charges were increased to give effect to the offering of the notes (assuming no exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option) and the use of \$200 million of the net proceeds as described above.

The Offering				
Issuer	ADC Telecommunications, Inc.			
Notes Offered	\$200,000,000 aggregate principal amount (or \$225,000,000 aggregate principal amount if the underwriters exercise in full their option to purchase additional notes solely to cover over-allotments, if any) of % Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2015 and \$200,000,000 aggregate principal amount (or \$225,000,000 aggregate principal amount if the underwriters exercise in full their option to purchase additional notes solely to cover over-allotments, if any) of % Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2017.			
Maturity Date	July 15, 2015 for the 2015 notes and July 15, 2017 for the 2017 notes.			
Interest Payment Dates	January 15 and July 15 of each year, beginning on July 15, 2008.			
Interest	% per annum for the 2015 notes and % per annum for the 2017 notes, payable semiannually, in arrears. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months.			
Ranking	The notes will be our general unsecured obligations and will:			
	rank junior in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior indebtedness;			
	rank equal in right of payment with all of our existing and future subordinated indebtedness, including our 1% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2008 (the 2008 convertible notes ) and our Floating Rate Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2013 (the 2013 convertible notes );			
	rank junior in right of payment to any of our secured obligations to the extent of the collateral securing such obligations; and			
	be effectively subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future liabilities of our subsidiaries.			
	As of October 31, 2007 we had no senior indebtedness outstanding, \$400.7 million of subordinated indebtedness outstanding and no secured indebtedness outstanding, and our subsidiaries had outstanding total liabilities, excluding intercompany liabilities but including trade payables, of approximately \$204.9 million. The indentures governing the notes do not limit our ability or the ability of our subsidiaries to incur debt, including senior indebtedness.			
Conversion	Holders may convert their notes at their option on any day to and including the business day immediately preceding the maturity date into shares of our common stock equal to the conversion rate, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances.			
Table of Contents	16			

Except as described in Description of the Notes Conversion of Notes, upon any conversion, holders will not receive any separate cash payment representing accrued and unpaid interest or additional interest.

Conversion Rate

If the applicable stock price is less than or equal to the base conversion price, the conversion rate will be the base conversion rate.

If the applicable stock price is greater than the base conversion price, the conversion rate will be determined in accordance with the following formula:

1

base conversion rate +

]]]

<u>applicable stock price</u> – base conversion <u>price</u> applicable stock price

x incremental share factor ]

The conversion rate, including any additional shares added to the conversion rate in connection with a makewhole fundamental change, will not exceed shares per \$1,000 principal amount of the 2015 notes for the 2015 notes (which is equal to a conversion price of \$ per share) and shares per \$1,000 principal amount of the 2017 notes for the 2017 notes (which is equal to a conversion price of \$ per share); however, such maximum conversion rate will be appropriately adjusted for base conversion rate adjustments (and adjustments to the incremental share factor) described in Description of the Notes Conversion of Notes Conversion Rate Adjustments Adjustment Events.

The base conversion rate is shares per \$1,000 principal amount of the 2015 notes for the 2015 notes and shares per \$1,000 principal amount of the 2017 notes for the 2017 notes, in each case subject to adjustment as described under Description of the Notes Conversion of Notes Conversion Rate Adjustments Adjustment Events. The base conversion price is a dollar amount (initially \$ for the 2015 notes and for the 2017 notes), in each case derived by dividing \$1,000 by the \$ base conversion rate. The incremental share factor is for the 2015 notes and for the 2017 notes, in each case subject to the same proportional adjustments as the base conversion rate. The applicable stock price is equal to the average of the closing prices of our common stock over the five-trading day period starting on the third trading day following the conversion date of the notes, subject to certain exceptions described in Description of Notes Conversion of Notes Conversion Rate.

In addition, if a fundamental change occurs, we may be required in certain circumstances to increase the conversion rate.

Purchase at Holder s Option upon a Fundamental Change A holder may require us to repurchase some or all of its notes for cash upon the occurrence of a fundamental change at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes being repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, in each case to, but not including, the repurchase date. See Description of the Notes Repurchase of Notes at the Option of Holders upon a Fundamental Change.

> If certain events constituting a fundamental change occur, we may be required in certain circumstances to increase the conversion rate for any notes converted in connection with such fundamental change by a

Conversion Rate Adjustment upon a Fundamental Change

specified number of shares of our common stock. A description of how the conversion rate will be increased and a table showing the conversion rate that would apply at various stock prices and fundamental change adjustment dates are set forth under

#### Table of Contents

	Description of the Notes Conversion of Notes Increase of Conversion Rate upon Certain Fundamental Changes.
Optional Redemption	The notes may not be redeemed at our option prior to maturity.
Sinking Fund	None.
Use of Proceeds	We estimate that the net proceeds from the sale of the notes, after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and expenses, will be approximately \$390 million (or approximately \$439 million assuming exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option in full).
	We intend to use approximately \$200 million of the net proceeds of this offering to repurchase prior to maturity or repay at maturity the outstanding \$200 million aggregate principal amount of our 2008 convertible notes, which mature on June 15, 2008. Any net proceeds from this offering that are not used to repurchase or repay the 2008 convertible notes are expected to be used for general corporate purposes and strategic opportunities, including possible future acquisitions or investments in complementary businesses, technologies or products. We may also use a portion of these remaining net proceeds to repurchase prior to maturity or redeem, on or after June 23, 2008, all or a portion of the outstanding \$200 million aggregate principal amount of our 2013 convertible notes. See Use of Proceeds.
Trustee and Paying Agent	U.S. Bank National Association.
DTC Eligibility	The notes will be issued in book-entry form and will be represented by permanent global certificates deposited with, or on behalf of, DTC and registered in the name of a nominee of DTC. Beneficial interests in any of the notes will be shown on, and transfers will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC or its nominee, and any such interest may not be exchanged for certificated securities, except in limited circumstances. See Description of the Notes Book-Entry Delivery and Form.
Listing and Trading	The notes will not be listed on any securities exchange. Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol ADCT.
Governing Law	The indentures and the notes provide that they will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.
Risk Factors	An investment in the notes involves risks. You should carefully consider the information set forth in the section of this prospectus entitled Risk Factors, as well as other information included in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus before deciding whether to invest in the notes.

# **RISK FACTORS**

An investment in the notes involves risks. Before deciding whether to purchase the notes, you should consider the risks discussed below or elsewhere in this prospectus, including those set forth under the heading Forward-Looking Statements, and in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) that we have incorporated by reference in this prospectus. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations.

Any of the risks discussed below or elsewhere in this prospectus or in our SEC filings, and other risks we have not anticipated or discussed, could have a material impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations. In that case, our ability to pay interest on the notes when due, to repay the notes at maturity or to pay amounts due upon repurchase of the notes could be adversely affected, and the trading price of the notes and our common stock could decline substantially.

## **Risks Related to Our Business**

# Our industry is highly competitive, and our product and services sales are subject to significant downward pricing pressure.

Competition in the broadband network infrastructure equipment and services industry is intense. Overall spending for communications infrastructure products has not increased significantly in recent years, and spending levels are expected to remain relatively flat in the future. Spending on infrastructure equipment for next-generation networks such as FTTX products and wireless coverage and capacity solutions, however, is expected to increase. Our continued ability to compete with other manufacturers of communications equipment depends in part on whether we can continue to develop and effectively market next-generation network infrastructure products.

We believe our ability to compete with other manufacturers of communications equipment products and providers of related services depends primarily on our engineering, manufacturing and marketing skills; the price, quality and reliability of our products; our delivery and service capabilities; and our control of operating expenses. We have experienced and anticipate greater pricing pressures from our customers as well as our competitors.

Our industry is currently characterized by many vendors pursuing relatively few large customers. As a result, our customers have the ability to exert significant pressure on us with respect to product pricing and other contractual terms. In recent years, a number of our large customers have engaged in business combination transactions (including the merger of SBC Communications and AT&T completed in November 2005 and the merger of AT&T and BellSouth completed in December 2006). Accordingly, we have fewer large-scale customers, and these customers have even greater scale and buying power.

Many of our competitors have more extensive engineering, manufacturing, marketing, financial and personnel resources than us. As a result, our competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies or changes in the requirements of communications services providers, or offer more aggressive pricing.

## Shifts in our product mix may result in declines in our gross margin.

Gross margins vary among our product groups and fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a result of shifts in product mix (*i.e.*, the amount of each type of product we sell in a particular quarter), the introduction of new products, decreases in average selling prices as products mature and we face competitive pricing pressure, and our ability to reduce manufacturing and other costs. We expect this fluctuation in gross profit to continue in the future. Also, new offerings

such as our fiber-based products used in networks located close to the end-user (which we refer to as our fiber-to-X or FTTX products) typically have lower gross margins than our legacy products. As these new products increasingly account for a larger percentage of our sales, our gross margins are likely to be impacted negatively.

# We are becoming increasingly dependent on significant specific network expansion projects undertaken by our customers.

Our business is increasingly focused on the sale of products, including our FTTX products, to support customer initiatives to expand broadband capabilities in their networks. These products have been increasingly deployed by our customers outside their central offices in connection with specific capital projects to increase network capabilities.

Because of these project-specific product purchases by our customers, the short-term demand for our products can fluctuate significantly, and our ability to forecast sales from quarter to quarter has diminished substantially. This fluctuation can be further affected by the long sales cycles necessary to obtain contracts to supply equipment for these projects. These long sales cycles may result in significant effort expended with no resulting sales or sales that are not made in the anticipated quarter.

In addition, competition among suppliers with respect to these capital projects can be intense, particularly because these projects often utilize new products that were not previously used in customers networks. We cannot give any assurance that these capital projects will continue or that our products will be selected for these equipment deployments.

## Our cost-reduction initiatives may not result in anticipated savings or more efficient operations.

Over the past several years, we have implemented, and are continuing to implement, significant cost-reduction measures. These measures have been taken in an effort to improve our levels of profitability. We have incurred significant restructuring and impairment charges in connection with these cost-reduction efforts. If these measures are not fully completed or are not completed in a timely fashion, we may not realize their full potential benefit.

In addition, the efforts to cut costs may not generate the savings and improvements in our operating margins and profitability we anticipate. Such efforts may also be disruptive to our operations. For example, cost savings measures may yield unanticipated consequences, such as attrition beyond any planned reductions in force or increased difficulties in our day-to-day operations, and adversely affect employee morale. Although we believe it is necessary to reduce the cost of our operations to improve our performance, these initiatives may also preclude us from making potentially significant expenditures that could improve our product offerings, competitiveness or long-term prospects.

# Consolidation among our customers has resulted in our loss of customers and reduced revenue during the pendency of business combinations and related integration activities.

We believe consolidation among our customers in the future will continue to permit them to increase market share and achieve greater economies of scale. Consolidation has impacted our business as our customers focus on completing business combinations and integrating their operations. In certain instances, customers integrating large-scale acquisitions have reduced their purchases of network equipment during the integration period. For example, following the merger of SBC Communications with AT&T and the merger of AT&T with BellSouth, the combined companies initially deferred spending on certain network equipment purchases, which resulted in lower product sales by ADC to these companies.

The impact of significant mergers of our customers on our business is likely to be unclear until sometime after such transactions are completed. After a consolidation occurs, a customer may choose to reduce the number of vendors from which it purchases equipment and may choose one of our competitors as its preferred vendor. There can be no assurance that we will continue to supply equipment to the surviving communications service provider after a business combination is completed.

# Our sales could be impacted negatively if one or more of our key customers substantially reduces orders for our products.

Our customer base is relatively concentrated, with our top ten customers accounting for 45.5%, 44.0% and 38.5% of net sales for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In addition, our largest customer, Verizon,

accounted for 17.8%, 16.0% and 12.3% of our net sales in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The merger of AT&T and BellSouth created another large customer for us. In fiscal 2007, the combined company accounted for approximately 15.4% of our net sales.

If we lose a significant customer for any reason, including consolidation among our major customers, our sales and gross profit will be impacted negatively. Also, in the case of products for which we believe potential revenue growth is the greatest, our sales remain highly concentrated with major communications service providers. For example, we rely on Verizon for a large percentage of our sales of FTTX products. The loss of sales due to a decrease in orders from a key customer could require us to exit a particular business or product line or record impairment or restructuring charges.

# Our Professional Services business is exposed to risks associated with a highly concentrated customer base.

Most of our Professional Services are provided to customers in the United States. As a result of the merger of SBC Communications with AT&T and the merger of AT&T and BellSouth, our Professional Services business in the United States is heavily dependent upon sales to the combined company resulting from these mergers. To date, the combined company has deferred the deployment of certain new communications networks. If, over the long term, AT&T continues to delay or reduces the services we provide to it, we may not be successful in finding new customers to replace the lost sales for a period of time. Therefore, sales by our Professional Services business could decline substantially and have an adverse effect on our business and operating results.

# Our market is subject to rapid technological change, and, to compete effectively, we must continually introduce new products that achieve market acceptance.

The communications equipment industry is characterized by rapid technological changes, evolving industry standards, changing market conditions and frequent new product and service introductions and enhancements. The introduction of products using new technologies or the adoption of new industry standards can make our existing products, or products under development, obsolete or unmarketable. For example, FTTX product sales initiatives may impact sales of our non-fiber products negatively. In order to remain competitive and increase sales, we will need to adapt to these rapidly changing technologies, enhance our existing products and introduce new products to address the changing demands of our customers.

We may not predict technological trends or the success of new products in the communications equipment market accurately. New product development often requires long-term forecasting of market trends, development and implementation of new technologies and processes and substantial capital commitments. For example, during fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2007, we invested significant resources in the development and marketing of a new line of automated copper cross-connect products. During the third quarter of fiscal 2007, following a review of the market potential of these products, we curtailed all development and marketing activities relating to this product line. This resulted in inventory and fixed asset write-offs. We do not know whether other new products and services we develop will gain market acceptance or result in profitable sales.

Many of our competitors have greater engineering and product development resources than we do. Although we expect to continue to invest substantial resources in product development activities, our efforts to achieve and maintain profitability will require us to be selective and focused with our research and development expenditures. If we fail to anticipate or respond in a cost-effective and timely manner to technological developments, changes in industry standards or customer requirements, or if we experience any significant delays in product development or introduction, our business, operating results and financial condition could be affected adversely.

# We may not successfully close strategic acquisitions, and, if these acquisitions are completed, we may have difficulty integrating the acquired businesses with our existing operations.

We recently acquired LGC and expect to complete our acquisition of Century Man in January 2008. In the future, we intend to acquire other companies and/or product lines that we believe are aligned with our

current strategic focus. We cannot provide assurances that we will be able to find appropriate candidates for acquisitions, reach agreement to acquire them, have the cash or other resources necessary to acquire them or close strategic acquisitions because of the ability to obtain requisite shareholder or regulatory approvals or otherwise. The significant effort and management attention invested in a strategic acquisition may not result in a completed transaction.

The impact of future acquisitions on our business, operating results and financial condition are not known at this time. In the case of LGC, Century Man and other businesses we may acquire in the future, we may have difficulty assimilating these businesses and their products, services, technologies and personnel into our operations. These difficulties could disrupt our ongoing business, distract our management and workforce, increase our expenses and materially adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. Also, we may not be able to retain key management and other critical employees after an acquisition. We may also acquire unanticipated liabilities. In addition to these risks, we may not realize all of the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions.

# If we seek to secure financing, we may not be able to obtain it on acceptable terms.

Based on current business operations and economic conditions and anticipated cash flows from operations, we currently anticipate that our available cash resources (which include existing cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities), together with the proceeds of this offering, will be sufficient to meet our anticipated needs for working capital and capital expenditures to execute our near-term business plan and repay our currently outstanding convertible notes upon maturity. If our estimates are incorrect and we are unable to generate sufficient cash flows from operations, we may need to raise additional funds. In addition, if the cost of one or more of our strategic acquisition opportunities exceeds our existing resources, we may be required to seek additional capital.

We currently do not have any significant available lines of credit or other significant credit facilities. We currently are negotiating the terms of a potential credit facility in an amount which has not yet been determined, but there can be no assurance that we can obtain this loan financing on acceptable terms. If we raise additional funds by obtaining a credit facility or by issuing debt, we may be subject to restrictive covenants that could limit our operating flexibility and interest payments could dilute earnings per share.

# We recorded a significant impairment charge during the quarter ended October 31, 2007 to reduce the carrying value of certain auction rate securities we hold, and we currently expect to incur additional impairment charges with respect to auction rate securities in fiscal year 2008.

Credit concerns in the capital markets have significantly reduced our ability to liquidate auction rate securities that we classify as available-for-sale securities on our balance sheet. As of October 31, 2007, we held auction rate securities with a par value of \$193.0 million. These securities represent interests in collateralized debt obligations, a portion of which are collateralized by pools of residential and commercial mortgages, interest-bearing corporate debt obligations, and dividend-yielding preferred stock. Some of the underlying collateral for the auction rate securities we hold consists of sub-prime mortgages. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, we recorded an other-than-temporary impairment charge of \$29.4 million to reduce the value of our auction rate securities to their estimated fair value of \$163.6 million as of October 31, 2007.

In November 2007, we sold at par \$23.2 million of the auction-rate securities we held at October 31, 2007. Subsequently, we received account statements as of November 30, 2007 indicating that the fair value of our auction rate securities had declined approximately another \$20.0 million since October 31, 2007. The estimated fair value of these securities could decrease or increase significantly in the future based on market conditions.

The current par value of our auction-rate securities portfolio is \$169.8 million. After adjustment for the \$29.4 million impairment charge recorded as of October 31, 2007 and the estimated further approximately \$20.0 million decline in the fair value of these securities since October 31, 2007, our auction rate securities have an estimated fair value of approximately \$121.0 million as of November 30, 2007. As a result, we expect to record an additional impairment charge during the quarter ending January 31, 2008, the amount of which

#### Table of Contents

will depend on the estimated fair value of our auction rate securities as of January 31, 2008. In future periods, the estimated fair value of our auction rate securities could decline further based on market conditions, which could result in additional impairment charges. These charges could be substantial.

#### Possible consolidation among our competitors could result in a loss of sales.

Recently, a number of our competitors have engaged in business combination transactions, and we expect to see continued consolidation among communication equipment vendors. These business combinations may result in our competitors becoming financially stronger and obtaining broader product portfolios than us. As a result, consolidation could increase the resources of our competitors and negatively impact our product sales and our profitability.

#### Our operating results fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter.

Our operating results are difficult to predict and may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. Fluctuations in our quarterly operating results may be caused by many factors, including the following:

the volume and timing of orders from and shipments to our customers;

the overall level of capital expenditures by our customers;

work stoppages and other developments affecting the operations of our customers;

the timing of and our ability to obtain new customer contracts and the timing of revenue recognition;

the timing of new product and service announcements;

the availability of products and services;

market acceptance of new and enhanced versions of our products and services;

variations in the mix of products and services we sell;

the location and utilization of our production capacity and employees; and

the availability and cost of key components of our products.

Our expense levels are based in part on expectations of future revenues. If revenue levels in a particular quarter are lower than expected, our operating results will be affected adversely.

In the future, we expect sales in our second and third fiscal quarters to be higher than sales in our other two fiscal quarters. First quarter results are usually adversely affected by the holiday season that extends from Thanksgiving through New Years Day and the preparation of annual capital spending budgets by many of our customers during the first fiscal quarter. In the first quarter of fiscal 2008, we anticipate that sales will be lower than sales in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. In addition, we expect fiscal 2008 fourth quarter sales to be lower than third quarter sales because capital spending by our customers usually declines in the fourth quarter of the calendar year. As a result of our proposed acquisition of Century Man, in the future, our first and/or second fiscal quarter results may be adversely affected by lower sales in China due to the Lunar New Year holiday.

#### The regulatory environment in which we and our customers operate is changing.

## Table of Contents

Although our business is not subject to significant direct governmental regulation, the communications services provider industry in which our customers operate is subject to significant and changing federal and state regulation in the United States and regulation in other countries.

The U.S. Telecommunications Act of 1996 (the Telecommunications Act ) lifted certain restrictions on the ability of communications services providers and other ADC customers to compete with one another. The Telecommunications Act also made other significant changes in the regulation of the telecommunications industry. These changes generally increased our opportunities to provide communications network infrastructure products to providers of Internet, data, video and voice networks. However, some of the changes resulting from the Telecommunications Act have diminished the return on additional investments by our customers in their networks, which has reduced demand for some of our products.

12

#### Table of Contents

In a 2003 ruling, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) terminated its line-sharing requirements, with the result that major telephone companies are no longer legally required to lease space to resellers of digital subscriber lines. The FCC ruling also allowed telephone companies to maintain sole ownership of newly-built networks that often use our FTTX products. While we believe that the ruling will generally have a positive effect on our business, there can be no assurance that the ruling will result in a long-term material increase in the sales of our products.

The regulatory environment for communication services providers is also changing in other countries. In many countries, regulators are considering whether service providers should be required to provide access to their networks by competitors. For example, this issue is currently being debated in Germany and Australia. As a result, our FTTX initiatives in these countries have been delayed.

Additional regulatory changes affecting the communications industry have occurred and are anticipated both in the United States and internationally. For example, a European Union directive relating to the restriction of hazardous substances (RoHS) in electrical and electronic equipment and a directive relating to waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE) have been and are being implemented in European Union member states. Among other things, the RoHS directive restricts the use of certain hazardous substances, including lead, in the manufacture of electrical and electronic equipment, and the WEEE directive requires producers of electrical goods to be responsible for the collection, recycling, treatment and disposal of these goods. Similar laws were passed in China in February 2006, as well as in South Korea in April 2007. The Chinese law became effective in March 2007. We understand governments in other countries are considering implementing similar laws or regulations. Our failure to comply with the RoHS and WEEE directives, or similar laws and regulations that have been or may be implemented in other countries, could result in reduced sales of our products, substantial product inventory write-offs, reputational damage, penalties and other sanctions.

New regulatory changes could alter demand for our products. In addition, recently announced or future regulatory changes could come under legal challenge and be altered, which could reverse the effect of such changes and their anticipated impact. Competition in our markets may intensify as the result of changes to existing or new regulations. Accordingly, changes in the regulatory environment could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

## Conditions in global markets could affect our operations.

Our sales outside the United States accounted for approximately 39.2%, 41.4% and 43.3% of our net sales in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We expect sales outside the United States to remain a significant percentage of net sales in the future. In addition to sales and distribution activities in numerous countries, we conduct manufacturing or other operations in the following countries: Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Hungary, India, Indonesia, Israel, Italy, Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, New Zealand, Philippines, Puerto Rico, Russia, Singapore, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, Thailand, the United Arab Emirates, the United Kingdom, the United States, Venezuela and Vietnam.

Due to our sales and other operations outside the United States, we are subject to the risks of conducting business globally. These risks include the following:

local economic and market conditions;

political and economic instability in countries with developing markets;

unexpected changes in or impositions of legislative or regulatory requirements;

compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and various laws in the countries in which we are doing business;

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;

requirements to consult with or obtain the approval of works councils or other labor organizations to complete business initiatives;

tariffs and other barriers and restrictions;

longer payment cycles;

difficulties in enforcing intellectual property and contract rights;

greater difficulty in accounts receivable collection;

potentially adverse taxes and export and import requirements; and

the burdens of complying with a variety of non-U.S. laws and telecommunications standards.

Our business is also subject to general geopolitical and environmental risks, such as terrorism, political and economic instability, changes in the costs of key resources such as crude oil, changes in diplomatic or trade relationships, natural disasters and other possible disruptive events such as pandemic illnesses.

Economic conditions in many of the markets outside the United States in which we do business represent significant risks to us. Instability in our non-U.S. markets, such as the Middle East, Asia and Latin America, could have a negative impact on our sales and business operations in these markets, and we cannot predict whether these unstable conditions will have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. The wars in Afghanistan and Iraq and other turmoil in the Middle East and the global war on terror also may also have negative effects on our business operations. In addition to the effect of global economic instability on sales to customers outside the United States, sales to United States customers could be negatively impacted by these conditions.

# We have agreed to acquire Century Man, and, if this acquisition is completed, we will be subject to special risks relating to doing business in China.

We have agreed to acquire Century Man, a provider of broadband connectivity equipment that conducts almost all of its business in China. After this acquisition is completed, our operations in China will be subject to significant political, economic and legal uncertainties. Changes in laws and regulations or their interpretation, or the imposition of confiscatory taxation, restrictions on currency conversion, imports and sources of supply, devaluations of currency or the nationalization or other expropriation of private enterprises could have a material adverse effect on the operations of Century Man. Under its current leadership, the Chinese government has been pursuing economic reform policies that encourage private economic activity and greater economic decentralization. However, there can be no assurance that the government will continue to pursue these policies, especially in the event of a change in leadership, social or political disruption or other circumstances affecting China s political and economic environment.

Although not permitted under Chinese law, corruption, extortion, bribery, payoffs and other fraudulent practices occur from time to time in China. We must comply with U.S. laws prohibiting corrupt business practices outside the United States. Foreign companies, including some of our competitors, are not subject to these laws. If our competitors in China engage in these practices, we may be at a competitive disadvantage. We maintain a business conduct program to prevent, deter and detect violations of law in the conduct of business throughout the world. We will conduct a review of Century Man s business practices and will train our personnel in China on appropriate ethical and legal business standards. However, a risk will remain that our employees will engage in activities that violate laws or our corporate policies. This is particularly true in instances in which the employees of a company we may acquire may not have been previously accustomed to operating under similar standards. In the event an employee violates applicable laws pertaining to sales practices, accounting standards, facility operations or other business or operational requirements, we may face substantial penalties, and our business in China could be affected adversely.

# Our intellectual property rights may not be adequate to protect our business.

Our future success depends in part upon our proprietary technology. Although we attempt to protect our proprietary technology through patents, trademarks, copyrights and trade secrets, these protections are limited. Accordingly, we cannot predict whether these protections will be adequate, or whether our competitors will develop similar technology independently, without violating our proprietary rights. Rights that may be granted

under any patent application in the future may not provide competitive advantages to us. Intellectual property protection in foreign jurisdictions may be limited or unavailable.

Many of our competitors have substantially larger portfolios of patents and other intellectual property rights than we do. As competition in the communications network equipment industry has intensified and the functionality of products has continued to overlap, we believe that network equipment manufacturers are increasingly becoming subject to infringement claims. We have received, and expect to continue to receive, notices from third parties (including some of our competitors) claiming that we are infringing their patents or other proprietary rights. We also have asserted patent claims against certain third parties.

We cannot predict whether we will prevail in any patent litigation brought against us by third-parties, or that we will be able to license any valid and infringed patents on commercially reasonable terms. Unfavorable resolution of such litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition. In addition, any of these claims, whether with or without merit, could result in costly litigation, divert our management s time and attention, delay our product shipments or require us to enter into expensive royalty or licensing agreements.

A third party may not be willing to enter into a royalty or licensing agreement on acceptable terms, if at all. If a claim of product infringement against us is successful and we fail to obtain a license or develop or license non-infringing technology, our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

## We are dependent upon our senior management and other critical personnel.

Like all communications technology companies, our success is dependent on the efforts and abilities of our senior management personnel and other critical employees, including those in customer service and product development functions. Our ability to attract, retain and motivate these employees is critical to our success. In addition, because we may acquire one or more businesses in the future, our success will depend, in part, upon our ability to retain and integrate our own personnel with personnel from acquired entities who are necessary to the continued success or the successful integration of the acquired businesses.

Our continuing initiatives to streamline operations as well as the challenging business environment in which we operate may cause uncertainty in our employee base about whether they will have future employment with us. This uncertainty may have an adverse effect on our ability to retain and attract key personnel.

## Compliance with internal control requirements is expensive and poses certain risks.

We expect to incur significant continuing costs, including accounting fees and staffing costs, in order to maintain compliance with the internal control requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. In addition, if we complete acquisitions in the future, our ability to integrate operations of the acquired company could impact our compliance with Section 404 of that legislation.

Following the fiscal quarter ended February 2, 2007, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to the timing of the recording of certain impairment charges incurred in connection with the classification of one of our business units as a discontinued operation. As a result of the need to record these impairment charges during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended October 31, 2006, we were required to restate our financial statements for that fiscal year.

In the future, if we fail to complete the annual Section 404 evaluation in a timely manner, or if our independent registered public accounting firm cannot attest in a timely manner to the effectiveness of our internal controls, we could be subject to regulatory scrutiny and a loss of public confidence in our internal controls. In addition, any failure

to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations.

# Product defects or the failure of our products to meet specifications could cause us to lose customers and revenue or to incur unexpected expenses.

If our products do not meet our customers performance requirements, our customer relationships may suffer. Also, our products may contain defects or fail to meet product specifications. Any failure or poor performance of our products could result in:

delayed market acceptance of our products;

delayed product shipments;

unexpected expenses and diversion of resources to replace defective products or identify and correct the source of errors;

damage to our reputation and our customer relationships;

delayed recognition of sales or reduced sales; and

product liability claims or other claims for damages that may be caused by any product defects or performance failures.

Our products are often critical to the performance of communications systems. Many of our supply agreements contain limited warranty provisions. If these contractual limitations are unenforceable in a particular jurisdiction or if we are exposed to product liability claims that are not covered by insurance, a claim could harm our business.

# We may encounter difficulties obtaining raw materials and supplies needed to make our products, and the prices of these materials and supplies are subject to fluctuation.

Our ability to manufacture our products is dependent upon the availability of certain raw materials and supplies. The availability of these raw materials and supplies is subject to market forces beyond our control. From time to time, there may not be sufficient quantities of raw materials and supplies in the marketplace to meet customer demand for our products. In addition, the costs to obtain these raw materials and supplies are subject to price fluctuations because of global market demands. Some raw materials or supplies may be subject to regulatory actions, which may affect available supplies.

Many companies utilize the same raw materials and supplies in the production of their products as we use in our products. Companies with more resources than us may have a competitive advantage in obtaining raw materials and supplies due to greater purchasing power. Reduced supply and higher prices of raw materials and supplies may adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

#### We may encounter litigation that has a material impact on our business.

We are a party to various lawsuits, proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business or otherwise. Many of these disputes may be resolved without resort to formal litigation. The amount of monetary liability resulting from the ultimate resolution of these matters cannot be determined at this time.

As of October 31, 2007, we had recorded approximately \$7.6 million in loss reserves for certain of these matters. In light of the reserves we have recorded, at this time we believe the ultimate resolution of these lawsuits, proceedings and claims will not have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Because of the uncertainty inherent in litigation, it is possible that unfavorable resolutions of these lawsuits, proceedings and claims could exceed the amount currently reserved and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

# We are subject to risks associated with changes in commodity prices, interest rates, security prices, and foreign currency exchange rates.

We face market risks from changes in certain commodity prices, security prices and interest rates. Market fluctuations could affect our results of operations and financial condition adversely. We may reduce this risk

16

through the use of derivative financial instruments, although we have not used such instruments for several years.

We are also exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Our primary risk is the effect of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on the U.S. dollar value of foreign currency denominated operating sales and expenses. Our largest exposure comes from fluctuations in the exchange rate for Mexican pesos.

We also are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk as a result of changes in intercompany balance sheet accounts and other balance sheet items. At October 31, 2007, these balance sheet exposures were mitigated through the use of foreign exchange forward contracts with maturities of less than 12 months. The primary currency exposures being mitigated were the Australian dollar and the euro.

## Risks Related to the Notes, Our Common Stock and this Offering

# We may incur substantially more debt or take other actions which may affect our ability to satisfy our obligations under the notes.

We will not be restricted under the terms of the notes or the indentures from incurring substantial additional indebtedness in the future, including senior indebtedness, secured indebtedness or other subordinated indebtedness or indebtedness at the subsidiary level, to which the notes would be structurally subordinated. We are currently negotiating the terms of a potential credit facility in an amount which has not yet been determined, but which, if finalized and funded, would rank senior to the notes. In addition, the limited covenants applicable to the notes do not require us to achieve or maintain any minimum financial results relating to our financial position or results of operations. The indentures will not contain any restrictive covenants limiting our ability to pay dividends, make any payments on junior or other indebtedness or otherwise limit our financial condition. Our ability to recapitalize, incur additional debt and take a number of other actions that are not limited by the terms of the notes could have the effect of diminishing our ability to make payments on our indebtedness, which would reduce the availability of cash flow to fund our operations, working capital and capital expenditures. In addition, we are not restricted from repurchasing common stock by the terms of the notes.

# Your right to receive payments on the notes is effectively subordinated to all existing and future liabilities of our subsidiaries and to all of our existing and future senior indebtedness.

Most of our operations are conducted through, and most of our assets are held by, our subsidiaries. Therefore, we are dependent on the cash flow of our subsidiaries to meet our debt obligations. Our subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities and none of our subsidiaries will guarantee our obligations under, or have any obligation to pay any amounts due on, the notes. As a result, the notes will be effectively subordinated to all liabilities of our subsidiaries, including trade payables. Our rights and the rights of our creditors, including holders of the notes, to participate in the assets of any of our subsidiaries creditors. In addition, our subsidiaries are not prohibited from incurring additional debt or other liabilities, including senior indebtedness. If our subsidiaries were to incur additional debt or liabilities, our ability to pay our obligations on the notes, including cash payments upon conversion or repurchase, could be adversely affected. At October 31, 2007, our subsidiaries had \$0.5 million of indebtedness outstanding and approximately \$204.9 million of other liabilities outstanding (excluding intercompany liabilities).

In addition, the notes will not be secured by any of our assets or those of our subsidiaries. As a result, the notes will be effectively subordinated to any secured debt we may incur to the extent of the collateral securing such debt. In any liquidation, dissolution, bankruptcy or other similar proceeding, holders of our secured debt may assert rights against any assets securing such debt in order to receive full payment of their debt before those assets may be used to pay the

holders of the notes. In such an event, we may not have sufficient assets remaining to pay amounts due on any or all of the notes.

#### **Table of Contents**

The notes will be unsecured obligations of ADC and will be subordinated in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior indebtedness. In the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization, or upon acceleration of the notes due to an event of default under the indentures and in certain other events, our assets will be available to pay obligations on the notes only after all senior indebtedness has been paid in full. As a result, there may not be sufficient assets remaining to pay amounts due on any or all of the outstanding notes. In addition, no payment in respect of the notes will be permitted during certain periods when events of default exist under our designated senior indebtedness. As of October 31, 2007, we had no senior indebtedness outstanding.

# We may not have the ability to repurchase the notes in cash upon the occurrence of a fundamental change as required by the indentures governing the notes.

Holders of the notes will have the right to require us to repurchase the notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change as described under Description of the Notes. We may not have sufficient funds to repurchase the notes in cash or to make the required repayment at such time or have the ability to arrange necessary financing on acceptable terms. A fundamental change may also constitute an event of default under, or result in the acceleration of the maturity of, our then-existing indebtedness. Our ability to repurchase the notes in cash may be limited by law or the terms of other agreements relating to our indebtedness outstanding at the time. Our failure to repurchase the notes when required would result in an event of default with respect to the notes. Our inability to pay for your notes that are tendered for repurchase could result in your receiving substantially less than the principal amount of the notes.

# Some significant restructuring transactions may not constitute a fundamental change, in which case we would not be obligated to offer to repurchase the notes.

Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change, you will have the right to require us to repurchase the notes. However, the fundamental change provisions will not afford protection to holders of notes in the event of certain transactions. For example, any leveraged recapitalization, refinancing, restructuring, or acquisition initiated by us will generally not constitute a fundamental change requiring us to repurchase the notes. In the event of any such transaction, holders of the notes will not have the right to require us to repurchase the notes, even though any of these transactions could increase the amount of our indebtedness, or otherwise adversely affect our capital structure or any credit ratings, thereby adversely affecting the holders of notes.

## The conversion rate of the notes may not be adjusted for all dilutive events.

The conversion rate of the notes will be subject to adjustment for certain events, including, but not limited to, the issuance of stock dividends on our common stock, the issuance of certain rights or warrants, subdivisions, combinations, distributions of capital stock (including the stock of a subsidiary), indebtedness or assets, cash dividends and certain issuer tender or exchange offers as described under Description of the Notes Conversion of Notes Conversion Rate Adjustments. However, the conversion rate will not be adjusted for other events, such as a third party tender or exchange offer or an issuance of our common stock for cash, that may adversely affect the trading price of the notes or the common stock. An event that adversely affects the value of the notes may occur, and that event may not result in an adjustment to the conversion rate.

# The adjustment to the conversion rate for notes converted in connection with certain fundamental changes may not adequately compensate you for any lost value of your notes as a result of such transaction.

If certain events constituting a fundamental change occur, under certain circumstances we will increase the conversion rate by a number of additional shares of our common stock for notes converted in connection with such fundamental change. The adjustment to the conversion rate for notes converted in connection with such fundamental change may not adequately compensate you for any lost value of your notes as a result of such transaction. In addition, if the price

of our common stock in the transaction is greater than \$ per share or less than \$ per share in the case of the 2015 notes or greater than \$ per share or less than \$ per share in the case of the 2017 notes (in each case, subject to adjustment), no adjustment will be

#### **Table of Contents**

made to the conversion rate. In no event will the total number of shares of common stock added to the conversion rate as a result of such fundamental change exceed per \$1,000 principal amount of the 2015 notes or per \$1,000 principal amount of the 2017 notes, in each case, subject to adjustments in the same manner as the conversion rate as set forth under Description of the Notes Conversion of Notes Conversion Rate Adjustments.

Our obligation to increase the conversion rate in connection with any such fundamental change could be considered a penalty, in which case the enforceability thereof would be subject to general principles of reasonableness of economic remedies.

# The notes may not have an active market and their price may be volatile. You may be unable to sell your notes at the price you desire or at all.

There is no existing trading market for the notes. As a result, there can be no assurance that a liquid market will develop or be maintained for the notes, that you will be able to sell any of the notes at a particular time (if at all) or that the prices you receive if or when you sell the notes will be above their initial offering price. We do not intend to list the notes on any national securities exchange or for quotation of the notes on any automated dealer quotation system. The underwriters have advised us that they intend to make a market in the notes after this offering is completed, but they have no obligation to do so and may cease their market-making at any time without notice. In addition, market-making will be subject to the limits imposed by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act ). The liquidity of the trading market in the notes, and the market price quoted for these notes, may be adversely affected by, among other things:

changes in the overall market for debt securities;

changes in our financial performance or prospects;

the prospects for companies in our industry generally;

the number of holders of the notes;

the interest of securities dealers in making a market for the notes; and

prevailing interest rates.

Historically, the market for convertible debt has been subject to disruptions that have caused volatility in prices. It is possible that the market for the notes will be subject to disruptions which may have a negative effect on you, regardless of our operating results, financial performance or prospects.

#### The notes may not be rated or may receive a lower rating than anticipated.

We do not intend to seek a rating on the notes. However, if one or more rating agencies rates the notes and assigns the notes a rating lower than the rating expected by investors, or reduces their rating in the future, the market price of the notes and our common stock could be harmed.

# If you hold notes, you will not be entitled to any rights with respect to our common stock, but you will be subject to all changes made with respect to our common stock.

If you hold notes, you will not be entitled to any rights with respect to our common stock (including, without limitation, voting rights and rights to receive any dividends or other distributions on our common stock, other than

## Table of Contents

extraordinary dividends that our board of directors designates as payable to the holders of the notes), but if you subsequently convert your notes and receive common stock upon such conversion, you will be subject to all changes affecting the common stock. You will have rights with respect to our common stock only if and when we deliver shares of common stock to you upon conversion of your notes and, to a limited extent, under the conversion rate adjustments applicable to the notes. For example, in the event that an amendment is proposed to our articles of incorporation or bylaws requiring shareholder approval and the record date for determining the shareholders of record entitled to vote on the amendment occurs prior to delivery of common stock to you, you will not be entitled to vote on the amendment, although you will

19

#### **Table of Contents**

nevertheless be subject to any changes in the powers or rights of our common stock that result from such amendment.

# Our stock price has been volatile historically and may continue to be volatile. The price of our common stock, and therefore the price of the notes, may fluctuate significantly, which may make it difficult for holders to resell the notes or the shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes when desired or at attractive prices.

The trading price of our common stock has been and may continue to be subject to wide fluctuations. From January 1, 2006 through December 17, 2007, the last reported sale price of our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Select Market ranged from \$11.98 to \$27.15 per share, and the last reported sale price of our common stock on December 17, 2007 was \$17.76 per share. Our stock price may fluctuate in response to a number of events and factors, such as quarterly variations in operating results, announcements of technological innovations or new products by us or our competitors, changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts, the operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors may deem comparable to us, and new reports relating to trends in our markets or general economic conditions.

In addition, the stock market in general, and prices for companies in our industry in particular, have experienced extreme volatility that often has been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely affect the price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance. Because the notes are convertible into shares of our common stock, volatility or depressed prices of our common stock could have a similar effect on the trading price of our notes. Holders who receive common stock upon conversion also will be subject to the risk of volatility and depressed prices of our common stock. Also, the existence of the notes may encourage short selling in our common stock by market participants because the conversion of the notes could depress the price of our common stock. In addition, the issuance of the notes could have a dilutive effect on our earnings per share in the future.

In addition, components of the compensation of many of our key employees are dependent on the price of our common stock. Lack of positive performance in our stock price may adversely affect our ability to retain key employees.

# Sales of a significant number of shares of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception of such sales, could depress the market price of the notes.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock or other equity-related securities in the public markets could depress the market price of the notes, our common stock, or both, and impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We cannot predict the effect that future sales of our common stock or other equity-related securities would have on the market price of our common stock or the value of the notes. The price of our common stock could be affected by possible sales of our common stock by investors who view the notes as a more attractive means of equity participation in our company and by hedging or arbitrage trading activity which we expect to occur involving our common stock. This hedging or arbitrage could, in turn, affect the market price of the notes.

# Conversion of the notes will dilute the ownership interest of existing shareholders, including holders who have previously converted their notes.

The delivery of common stock upon conversion of the notes will dilute the ownership interests of existing shareholders. Any sales in the public market of our common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock. In addition, the anticipated conversion of the notes into shares of our common stock could depress the price of our common stock.

# The notes will initially be held in book-entry form and, therefore, you must rely on the procedures and the relevant clearing systems to exercise your rights and remedies.

Unless and until certificated notes are issued in exchange for book-entry interests in the notes, owners of the book-entry interests will not be considered owners or holders of notes. Instead, DTC, or its nominee, will be the sole holder of the notes. Payments of principal, interest and other amounts owing on or in respect of the

#### Table of Contents

notes in global form will be made to the paying agent, which will make payments to DTC. Thereafter, such payments will be credited to DTC participants accounts that hold book-entry interests in the notes in global form and credited by such participants to indirect participants. Unlike holders of the notes themselves, owners of book-entry interests will not have the direct right to act upon our solicitations for consents or requests for waivers or other actions from holders of the notes. Instead, if you own a book-entry interest, you will be permitted to act only to the extent you have received appropriate proxies to do so from DTC or, if applicable, a participant. We cannot assure you that procedures implemented for the granting of such proxies will be sufficient to enable you to vote on any requested actions on a timely basis.

# You may be subject to tax upon an adjustment to the conversion rate of the notes even though you do not receive a corresponding cash distribution.

The conversion rate of the notes is subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, including the payment of certain cash dividends. If the conversion rate is adjusted as a result of a distribution that is taxable to our common shareholders, such as a cash dividend, you will be deemed to have received a dividend to the extent of our earnings and profits, which will be subject to U.S. federal income tax without the receipt of any cash. If you are a non-U.S. holder (as defined in Material U.S. Federal Tax Consequences ), such deemed dividend generally would be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax (currently at a 30% rate, or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable treaty), which may be set off against subsequent payments on the notes. See Dividend Policy and Material U.S. Federal Tax Consequences.

Further, if a fundamental change occurs on or prior to the maturity date of the notes, under some circumstances we will increase the conversion rate of notes converted in connection with the fundamental change. Such increase also may be treated as a distribution subject to U.S. federal income tax as a dividend. See Material U.S. Federal Tax Consequences.

We intend to take the position, although it is not free from doubt, that the determination of a conversion rate of the notes in excess of the base conversion rate, in accordance with the formula set forth under Description of the Notes Conversion of Notes Conversion Rate, does not result in a deemed stock distribution. However, in certain circumstances, including if we begin paying dividends, it is possible that, upon the determination of the conversion rate, the excess of the conversion rate over the base conversion rate may be treated as a distribution subject to U.S. federal income tax as a dividend, return of capital, or capital gain in accordance with the description under

Material U.S. Federal Tax Consequences Consequences to U.S. Holders Distributions. In the case of a non-U.S. holder, any such excess that is treated as a dividend would be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax (currently at a 30% rate, or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable treaty), which may be set off against payments of common stock on the note.

# Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents, our shareholder rights agreement and Minnesota law could prevent or delay a change in control of our company.

Provisions of our articles of incorporation and bylaws, our shareholder rights agreement (also known as a poison pill ) and Minnesota law may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that a shareholder may consider favorable, and may limit the price that investors may be willing to pay for our common stock. These provisions include the following:

advance notice requirements for shareholder proposals;

authorization for our board of directors to issue preferred stock without shareholder approval;

authorization for our board of directors to issue preferred stock purchase rights upon a third party s acquisition of 15% or more of our outstanding shares of common stock; and

limitations on business combinations with interested shareholders.

Some of these provisions may discourage a future acquisition of ADC even though our shareholders would receive an attractive value for their shares, or a significant number of our shareholders believe such a proposed transaction would be in their best interest.

## **USE OF PROCEEDS**

We estimate that the net proceeds from the sale of the notes, after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and expenses, will be approximately \$390 million (or approximately \$439 million assuming exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option in full).

We intend to use approximately \$200 million of the net proceeds of this offering to repurchase prior to maturity or repay at maturity the outstanding \$200 million aggregate principal amount of our 2008 convertible notes, which mature on June 15, 2008 and which bear interest at a rate of 1.0% per annum. Any net proceeds from this offering that are not used to repurchase or repay the 2008 convertible notes are expected to be used for general corporate purposes and strategic opportunities, including possible future acquisitions or investments in complementary businesses, technologies or products. We may also use a portion of these remaining net proceeds to repurchase prior to maturity or to redeem, on or after June 23, 2008, all or a portion of the outstanding \$200 million aggregate principal amount of our 2013 convertible notes, which mature on June 15, 2013 and which bear interest at a variable rate equal to six-month LIBOR plus 0.375%, reset on each semi-annual interest payment date (June 15 and December 15 of each year). Pending these uses, we expect to invest the net proceeds in short-term, highly rated investment grade securities.

22

## PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the trading symbol ADCT. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the low and high closing sales prices per share of our common stock as reported by The NASDAQ Global Select Market:

	High	Low	
Fiscal Year Ended October 31, 2006			
First quarter	\$ 25.56	17.49	
Second quarter	27.15	22.39	
Third quarter	23.21	11.98	
Fourth quarter	15.59	12.10	
Fiscal Year Ended October 31, 2007			
First quarter	\$ 16.65	\$ 13.51	
Second quarter	19.02	15.27	
Third quarter	20.70	16.75	
Fourth quarter	20.98	15.48	
Fiscal Year Ending October 31, 2008			
First quarter (through December 17, 2007)	\$ 18.89	\$ 15.39	

On December 17, 2007, the last reported sale price of our common stock was \$17.76 per share.

## **DIVIDEND POLICY**

We have not in the past and currently do not pay any cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance our operations and for general corporate purposes.

#### 23

## CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our consolidated capitalization as of October 31, 2007:

on an actual basis; and

as adjusted to give effect to the offering of the notes (assuming no exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option) and the application of the net proceeds therefrom as described under Use of Proceeds.

This table should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

	As of October 31, 2007 Actual As Adjusted (In millions, except per share information)			
Debt:				
% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2015	\$	\$	200.0	
% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2017			200.0	
1% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2008	200.0			
Floating Rate Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2013	200.0		200.0	
Other debt	1.2		1.2	
Total debt	401.2		601.2	
Shareowners investment:				
Preferred stock (10.0 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding actual and				
as adjusted)				
Common stock (342.9 shares authorized; 117.6 shares issued and outstanding actual				
and as adjusted)(1)(2)	23.5		23.5	
Paid-in capital	1,432.3		1,432.3	
Accumulated deficit	(450.9)		(450.9)	
Accumulated other comprehensive income	2.7		2.7	
Total shareowners investment	1,007.6		1,007.6	
Total capitalization	\$ 1,408.8	\$	1,608.8	

(1) Excludes certain shares issued under our stock incentive plans: 6.7 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options at a weighted average exercise price of \$25.46 per share; 1.1 shares of common stock issuable upon vesting of outstanding restricted stock unit grants; and 11.3 shares of common stock available for future grant.

(2)

Excludes 7.1 shares issuable upon conversion of the 2008 convertible notes; 7.1 shares issuable upon conversion of the 2013 convertible notes; and any shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes offered hereby.

## **DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES**

We will issue the notes under separate indentures between us and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. The following description is only a summary of the material provisions of the notes and the indentures. It does not purport to be complete. This summary is subject to and is qualified by reference to all the provisions of the notes and the indentures, including the definitions of certain terms used in the indentures. Wherever particular provisions or defined terms of the indentures or the notes are referred to, these provisions or defined terms are incorporated in this prospectus by reference. We urge you to read these documents in their entirety because they, and not this description, define the rights of holders of the notes. You may request copies of these documents from us upon written request at our address, which is listed in this prospectus under Where You Can Find More Information.

The 2015 notes and the 2017 notes and the indentures governing each such series of notes are identical in all respects, other than the principal amount, maturity date, base conversion rate, incremental share factor, maximum conversion rate, stock price and adjustment dates relating to a make-whole fundamental change and related provisions. For purposes of the following discussion, each reference appearing in this Description of the Notes section to the notes refers to the applicable series of notes and not to the other series of notes or both series of notes; each reference to the global note of the applicable series of notes; and each reference to the indenture refers to the indenture governing the series of notes issued thereunder and not to the indenture governing the other series of notes or both indentures.

For purposes of this Description of the Notes section, references to we, us, our, the company and ADC refer sole ADC Telecommunications, Inc. and not to its subsidiaries.

## General

## The Notes

The notes will:

initially be limited to an aggregate principal amount of \$400,000,000 (or \$450,000,000, if the underwriters exercise in full their option to purchase additional notes solely to cover over-allotments), consisting of \$200,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 2015 notes (or \$225,000,000 if the underwriters exercise in full their over allotment option to purchase additional notes) and \$200,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 2017 notes (or \$225,000,000 if the underwriters exercise in full their over allotment option to purchase additional notes) and \$200,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 2017 notes (or \$225,000,000 if the underwriters exercise in full their over-allotment option to purchase additional notes);

mature on July 15, 2015, in the case of the 2015 notes, and July 15, 2017, in the case of the 2017 notes, unless earlier converted by holders or repurchased by us at the option of holders in connection with a fundamental change;

bear interest at a rate of % per annum on the principal amount with respect to the 2015 notes and % per annum with respect to the 2017 notes, in each case, payable semi-annually, in arrears, on each January 15 and July 15, beginning on July 15, 2008, to the holders of record at the close of business on the preceding January 1 and July 1, respectively;

not be redeemable at our option prior to maturity;

be subject to repurchase by us, in whole or in part, for cash at the option of holders upon the occurrence of a fundamental change (as defined under Repurchase of Notes at the Option of Holders upon a Fundamental Change ), at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes being repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional interest), if any, to, but not including, the repurchase date as described under Repurchase of Notes at the Option of Holders upon a Fundamental Change; and

be represented by one or more registered securities in global form as described under Book-Entry Delivery and Form.

The notes may be converted into shares of our common stock at a conversion rate to be determined as described under

Conversion of Notes Conversion Rate. The number of shares to be received upon conversion is subject to adjustment if certain events occur. Upon conversion of a note, you will not receive any separate payment for accrued and unpaid interest (including any additional interest), except under the limited circumstances described below under Conversion of Notes General. If certain events constituting a fundamental change occurs, we may be required in certain circumstances to increase the conversion rate for any notes converted in connection with such fundamental change by a specified number of shares of our common stock.

The indenture governing the notes will not contain any financial covenants and will not restrict us or our subsidiaries from paying dividends, incurring additional senior indebtedness or any other indebtedness or issuing or repurchasing securities. The indenture will contain no covenants or other provisions to afford protection to holders of the notes in the event of highly leveraged transactions or a fundamental change, except to the extent described under Repurchase of Notes at the Option of Holders upon a Fundamental Change and Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets.

As described below, the notes will be our general unsecured obligations, ranking subordinate in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior indebtedness. The notes will be effectively subordinated in right of payment to any of our future secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such obligations and effectively subordinated in right of payment to all indebtedness and liabilities of our subsidiaries, including trade credit. At October 31, 2007, we had no senior indebtedness outstanding and our subsidiaries had \$0.5 million of aggregate principal amount of indebtedness outstanding and approximately \$204.9 million of other liabilities outstanding (excluding intercompany liabilities). We currently are negotiating the terms of a potential credit facility in an amount which has not yet been determined but which, if finalized and funded, would rank senior to the notes.

No sinking fund is provided for the notes and the notes are not subject to defeasance.

We will maintain an office where the notes may be presented for registration, transfer, exchange or conversion. This office will initially be an office or agency of the trustee. Except under limited circumstances described below, the notes will be issued only in fully registered book-entry form, without coupons, in denominations of \$1,000 principal amount and multiples thereof, and will be represented by one or more global notes. References to a note or each note in this prospectus refer to \$1,000 principal amount of notes. We may pay interest by check mailed to each holder at its address as it appears in the notes register; provided, however, that holders with notes in an aggregate principal amount in excess of \$2.0 million will be paid, at their written election, by wire transfer of immediately available funds; provided further, however, that payments to The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (DTC), will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account of DTC or its nominee. There will be no service charge for any registration of transfer or exchange of notes. We may, however, require holders to pay a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection with certain transfers or exchanges.

Neither we nor the registrar nor the trustee is required to register a transfer or exchange of any notes for which the holder has delivered, and not validly withdrawn, a fundamental change repurchase notice, except, in the case of a partial repurchase, that portion of the notes not being repurchased.

The material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the notes and any shares of our common stock received upon conversion of the notes are summarized in this prospectus under the heading Material U.S. Federal Tax Consequences.

We may, without the consent of the holders, reopen the notes and issue additional notes under the indenture with the same terms (except for any differences in the issue price and interest accrued prior to the issue date of the additional notes) and with the same CUSIP numbers as the notes offered hereby in an unlimited aggregate principal amount,

provided that no such additional notes may be issued unless fungible with the notes offered hereby for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The 2015 notes and any additional 2015 notes and the 2017 notes and any additional 2017 notes would each, respectively, rank equally and ratably and would be treated as a single class for all purposes under the applicable indenture, including, without limitation,

waivers, amendments and offers to purchase. We may also from time to time purchase the notes in open market purchases or negotiated transactions without prior notice to holders.

As used in this prospectus, business day means any day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, that is neither a legal holiday nor a day on which commercial banks are authorized or required by law, regulation or executive order to close in The City of New York.

## Principal, Maturity

The indenture governing the 2015 notes will provide for the issuance by us of 2015 notes in an amount initially limited to \$200,000,000 aggregate principal amount (or \$225,000,000 aggregate principal amount if the underwriters exercise in full their over-allotment option to purchase additional 2015 notes solely to cover over-allotments) and the indenture governing the 2017 notes will provide for the issuance by us of 2017 notes in an amount initially limited to \$200,000,000 aggregate principal amount (or \$225,000,000 aggregate principal amount initially limited to \$200,000,000 aggregate principal amount (or \$225,000,000 aggregate principal amount if the underwriters exercise in full their over-allotment option to purchase additional 2017 notes solely to cover over-allotments). The 2015 notes will mature on July 15, 2015 and the 2017 notes will mature on July 15, 2017.

## Interest

The 2015 notes will bear interest at a rate of % per annum, and the 2017 notes will bear interest at rate of % per annum on the principal amount from December , 2007. We will pay interest semi-annually, in arrears, on each January 15 and July 15, beginning on July 15, 2008, subject to limited exceptions if the notes are converted prior to the relevant interest payment date. Subject to certain exceptions, interest will be paid to the holders of record at the close of business on the January 1 and July 1, as the case may be, immediately preceding the relevant interest payment date.

Interest on the notes will accrue from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or, if no interest has been paid, from December , 2007. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months.

Interest will cease to accrue on a note upon its maturity, conversion or repurchase by us at the option of a holder.

## **Conversion of Notes**

## General

Subject to the qualifications and the satisfaction of the conditions described below, a holder may, at its option, convert any of its notes into shares of our common stock at a conversion rate determined as described below under Conversion Rate. A holder may convert notes only in denominations of \$1,000 principal amount and integral multiples thereof.

A holder may surrender notes for conversion at any time prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately preceding the maturity date.

Except as described below, we will not make any payment in cash or common stock or other adjustment for accrued and unpaid interest (including additional interest, if any) on any notes when they are converted. If a holder of notes converts after the close of business on a record date for an interest payment but prior to the opening of business on the corresponding interest payment date, the holder at the close of business on such record date will receive, on that interest payment date, accrued interest on those notes, notwithstanding the conversion of those notes prior to that interest payment date, because that holder will have been the holder of record on the corresponding record date.

However, at the time that such holder surrenders notes for conversion, the holder must pay us an amount equal to the interest (including additional interest, if any), if any, that has accrued and that will be paid on the related interest payment date. The preceding sentence does not apply, however, if (1) any overdue interest exists at the time of conversion with respect to the notes being converted, but only to the extent of the amount of such overdue interest, (2) we have specified a repurchase date

#### **Table of Contents**

following a fundamental change that is after the close of business on a record date and on or prior to the opening of business on the next interest payment date or (3) the holder surrenders any notes for conversion after the close of business on the record date relating to the maturity interest payment date and on or prior to the maturity interest payment date.

Our delivery to the holder of the full number of shares of common stock into which the note is convertible, together with any cash payment for such holder s fractional shares, will be deemed to satisfy our obligation to pay the principal amount of the note and to satisfy our obligation to pay accrued and unpaid interest (including any additional interest) to but not including the conversion date. As a result, accrued interest is deemed paid in full rather than cancelled, extinguished or forfeited.

Except as described under Conversion Rate Adjustments, we will not make any payment or other adjustment for dividends on any common stock issued upon conversion of the notes.

If you convert notes, we will pay any documentary, stamp or similar issue or transfer taxes or duties due on the issue or delivery of shares of our common stock upon conversion, unless the tax is due because you request the shares to be issued or delivered to another person, in which case you will pay the tax.

## **Conversion Rate**

The conversion rate per \$1,000 principal amount of notes to be converted will be determined as follows:

if the applicable stock price is less than or equal to the base conversion price, the conversion rate will be the base conversion rate.

if the applicable stock price is greater than the base conversion price, the conversion rate will be determined in accordance with the following formula:

		<u>the Applicable Stock Price – the Base</u>		x the Incremental Share	
Base Conversion Rate +	11	Conversion Price	]	_	1
		the Applicable Stock Price	-	Factor	-

The conversion rate per \$1,000 principal amount of notes to be converted, including any additional shares added to the conversion rate in connection with a make-whole fundamental change (as defined below), will not exceed for the 2015 notes (which is equal to a conversion price of \$ per share) and for the 2017 notes (which is equal to a conversion price of \$ per share); however, such maximum conversion rate will be appropriately adjusted for all base conversion rate adjustments (and adjustments to the incremental share factor) described below under Conversion Rate Adjustments Adjustment Events.

The base conversion rate per \$1,000 principal amount of notes is for the 2015 notes and for the 2017 notes, in each case, subject to adjustment as described under Conversion Rate Adjustments.

The base conversion price is a dollar amount (initially \$ for the 2015 notes and \$ for the 2017 notes), in each case, derived by dividing \$1,000 by the applicable base conversion rate.

The incremental share factor is for the 2015 notes and for the 2017 notes, in each case subject to the same proportional adjustments as the base conversion rate as described under Conversion Rate Adjustments.

The applicable stock price is equal to the average of the closing prices of our common stock over the five-trading day period starting the third trading day following the conversion date of the notes; provided that with respect to notes surrendered for conversion during the ten-trading day period prior to the maturity date, the applicable stock price shall be equal to the average of the closing prices of our common stock over the five-trading day period following the applicable maturity date; and *provided further* that with respect to notes surrendered for conversion in connection with a make-whole fundamental change, the applicable stock price shall be determined on the basis of the averaging period set forth under Settlement of Conversions upon Make-whole Fundamental Changes. The five-trading day period used to determine the applicable stock price is referred to herein as the averaging period.

28

#### **Table of Contents**

The closing price of our common stock on any trading day means the reported last sale price per share (or, if no last sale price is reported, the average of the bid and ask prices per share or, if more than one in either case, the average of the average bid and the average ask prices per share) on such date reported by the Nasdaq Global Market or, if our common stock is not listed for trading on the Nasdaq Global Market, as reported by the principal other national or regional securities exchange on which our common stock is listed for trading or otherwise as provided in the indenture.

The term trading day means a day during which trading in our common stock generally occurs and there is no market disruption event.

The term market disruption event means (1) a failure by the primary exchange or quotation system on which our common stock trades or is quoted to open for trading during its regular trading session or (2) the occurrence or existence prior to 1:00 p.m., New York City time, on any trading day for our common stock of an aggregate one half hour period, of any suspension or limitation imposed on trading (by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the stock exchange or otherwise) in our common stock or in any options, contracts or future contracts relating to our common stock.

A holder of a note otherwise entitled to a fractional share will receive cash in an amount equal to the value of such fractional share based on the applicable stock price.

A note for which a holder has delivered a repurchase notice requiring us to purchase the notes upon a fundamental change, as described under Repurchase of Notes at the Option of Holders upon a Fundamental Change, may be surrendered for conversion only if such notice is withdrawn in accordance with the indenture.

## Increase of Conversion Rate upon Certain Fundamental Changes

If a holder elects to convert notes in connection with a make-whole fundamental change (as defined below), we will increase the conversion rate by a number of shares (the additional shares ) as described below. Any conversion of the notes by a holder will be deemed for these purposes to be in connection with such make-whole fundamental change if it occurs during the period that begins on (and includes) the 15<sup>th</sup> scheduled trading day prior to the date on which such make-whole fundamental change becomes effective and ends on (and includes) the repurchase date relating to such make-whole fundamental change as described below under Repurchase of Notes at the Option of Holders upon a Fundamental Change. A make-whole fundamental change as described below under Repurchase of Notes at the Option of Holders upon a Fundamental Change, pursuant to which 10% or more of the consideration for our common stock (other than cash payments for fractional shares and cash payments made in respect of dissenters appraisal rights) in such fundamental change transaction consists of cash or securities (or other property) that are not shares of common stock, depositary receipts or other certificates representing common equity interests traded or scheduled to be traded immediately following such transaction on a U.S. national securities exchange. We will give notice of an anticipated make-whole fundamental change to all record holders of the notes no later than the 15<sup>th</sup> scheduled trading day prior to the date on which such make-whole fundamental change to all record holders of the notes no later than the 15<sup>th</sup> scheduled trading day prior to the date on which such make-whole fundamental change to all record holders of the notes no later than the 15<sup>th</sup> scheduled trading day prior to the date on which such make-whole fundamental change to all record holders of the notes no later than the 15<sup>th</sup> scheduled trading day prior to the date on which such make-whole fundamental change is anticipated to become effective.

The increase in the conversion rate will be expressed as a number of additional shares per \$1,000 principal amount of notes and is based on the earliest of the date on which the make-whole fundamental change is publicly announced, occurs or becomes effective (the adjustment date ), and the price, referred to as the stock price, paid, or deemed to be paid, per share of our common stock in the transaction constituting the make-whole fundamental change, subject to adjustment as described under in the next paragraph. If holders of our common stock receive only cash in such transaction, the stock price shall be the cash amount paid per share. In all other cases, the stock price will be the average of the closing prices of our common stock over the five consecutive trading days prior to but not including the

date of effectiveness of the make-whole fundamental change.

The stock prices set forth in the first columns of the tables below will be adjusted as of any date on which the base conversion rate of the corresponding notes is adjusted, as described under Conversion Rate Adjustments. The adjusted stock prices will equal the stock prices applicable immediately prior to such adjustment, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the base conversion rate immediately prior to the adjustment giving rise to the stock price adjustment and the denominator of which is the base conversion rate as so adjusted. The number of additional shares will be adjusted in the same manner as the base conversion rate as set forth under Conversion Rate Adjustments.

The following table sets forth the stock price, adjustment date and number of additional shares of our common stock to be received per \$1,000 principal amount of our 2015 notes, upon a conversion in connection with a make-whole fundamental change that occurs in the corresponding period to be determined by reference to the stock price and adjustment date of the make-whole fundamental change, based on a hypothetical stock price of \$17.76, an initial base conversion rate of 32.6413 shares of common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of the notes (which is equal to an initial base conversion price of approximately \$30.64 per share), an incremental share factor of 23.6649, and an interest rate of 3.50%. The following table is for illustrative purposes only and actual values will differ from those expressed in this table.

	Adjustment Date								
Stock Price	Dec 26, 2007*	July 15, 2008	July 15, 2009	July 15, 2010	July 15, 2011	July 15, 2012	July 15, 2013	July 15, 2014	July 15, 2015
\$17.76	23.67	23.67	23.67	23.67	23.67	23.67	23.67	23.67	23.67
\$20.00	21.81	21.92	20.69	19.46	18.28	17.36	17.36	17.36	18.06
\$22.00	20.73	20.73	19.36	17.94	16.49	15.03	13.63	12.81	13.45
\$24.00	20.00	19.92	18.49	16.95	15.32	13.59	11.77	9.89	9.61
\$26.00	19.52	19.38	17.92	16.33	14.60	12.70	10.59	8.17	6.36
\$28.00	19.20	19.04	17.57	15.96	14.18	12.19	9.92	7.17	3.61
\$30.00	19.01	18.82	17.38	15.77	13.98	11.96	9.62	6.71	1.73
\$32.00	17.90	17.70	16.28	14.70	12.93	10.91	8.57	5.65	0.00
\$34.00	16.52	16.31	14.93	13.39	11.65	9.68	7.37	4.53	0.00
\$36.00	15.33	15.12	13.78	12.28	10.60	8.68	6.45	3.74	0.00
\$38.00	14.30	14.08	12.79	11.35	9.72	7.86	5.72	3.18	0.00
\$40.00	13.40	13.19	11.95	10.55	8.98	7.20	5.15	2.79	0.00
\$45.00	11.55	11.36	10.23	8.96	7.54	5.95	4.15	2.18	0.00
\$50.00	10.14	9.96	8.94	7.80	6.52	5.09	3.52	1.85	0.00
\$55.00	9.03	8.86	7.94	6.90	5.75	4.47	3.09	1.64	0.00
\$60.00	8.12	7.98	7.13	6.19	5.15	4.00	2.76	1.49	0.00
\$65.00	7.37	7.24	6.47	5.62	4.67	3.63	2.51	1.36	0.00
\$70.00	6.74	6.63	5.92	5.13	4.27	3.32	2.30	1.25	0.00
\$75.00	6.20	6.10	5.45	4.72	3.93	3.06	2.12	1.16	0.00
\$80.00	5.73	5.64	5.04	4.37	3.64	2.83	1.97	1.07	0.00
\$85.00	5.33	5.24	4.68	4.06	3.38	2.64	1.84	1.00	0.00
\$90.00	4.96	4.89	4.37	3.79	3.16	2.46	1.72	0.94	0.00
\$175.00	2.04	2.04	1.83	1.60	1.35	1.06	0.74	0.41	0.00

\* Assumed issuance date of the 2015 notes.

The exact stock price and adjustment date may not be set forth on the table, in which case:

if the stock price is between two stock price amounts on the table or the adjustment date is between two adjustment dates on the table, the number of additional shares will be determined by a straight-line interpolation between the number of additional shares set forth for the higher and lower stock price amounts and the earlier and later adjustment dates based on a 365-day year, as applicable;

if the stock price is in excess of \$ per share (subject to adjustment in the same manner as the stock price), no increase in the conversion rate will be made; and

if the stock price is less than \$ per share (subject to adjustment in the same manner as the stock price), no increase in the conversion rate will be made.

The following table sets forth the increase in the stock price, adjustment date and number of additional shares of our common stock to be received per \$1,000 principal amount of our 2017 notes, upon a conversion in connection with a make-whole fundamental change that occurs in the corresponding period to be determined by reference to the adjustment date of the make-whole fundamental change, based on a hypothetical stock price of \$17.76, an initial base conversion rate of 30.8528 shares of common stock per \$1,000 principal amount of the notes (which is equal to an initial base conversion price of approximately \$32.41 per share), an incremental share factor of 25.4536, and an interest rate of 3.50%. The following table is for illustrative purposes only and actual values will differ from those expressed in this table.

	Adjustment Date										
Stock Price	Dec 26, 2007*	July 15, 2008	July 15, 2009	July 15, 2010	July 15, 2011	July 15, 2012	July 15, 2013	July 15, 2014	July 15, 2015	July 15, 2016	July 15, 2017
\$17.76	25.45	25.45	25.45	25.45	25.45	25.45	25.45	25.45	25.45	25.45	25.45
\$20.00	24.16	24.27	23.01	21.73	20.46	19.25	19.15	19.15	19.15	19.15	19.84
\$22.00	23.33	23.36	22.04	20.66	19.23	17.79	16.38	15.08	14.60	14.60	15.23
\$24.00	22.76	22.75	21.40	19.97	18.45	16.87	15.23	13.59	12.01	10.81	11.39
\$26.00	22.39	22.33	20.99	19.54	17.98	16.31	14.54	12.66	10.70	8.68	8.14
\$28.00	22.14	22.06	20.74	19.29	17.72	16.02	14.16	12.15	9.94	7.42	5.36
\$30.00	21.98	21.88	20.59	19.17	17.61	15.90	14.01	11.93	9.58	6.76	3.00
\$32.00	21.88	21.77	20.52	19.13	17.60	15.91	14.02	11.92	9.50	6.55	1.52
\$34.00	20.66	20.53	19.32	17.97	16.47	14.81	12.95	10.86	8.45	5.49	0.00
\$36.00	19.29	19.15	17.99	16.68	15.23	13.61	11.80	9.74	7.38	4.49	0.00
\$38.00	18.09	17.95	16.83	15.57	14.16	12.59	10.83	8.83	6.53	3.78	0.00
\$40.00	17.02	16.88	15.80	14.59	13.23	11.71	10.01	8.08	5.87	3.27	0.00
\$45.00	14.81	14.69	13.71	12.61	11.37	9.99	8.43	6.69	4.72	2.51	0.00
\$50.00	13.09	12.98	12.09	11.09	9.97	8.71	7.31	5.74	4.00	2.12	0.00
\$55.00	11.71	11.61	10.81	9.90	8.88	7.74	6.47	5.05	3.51	1.87	0.00
\$60.00	10.58	10.49	9.76	8.93	8.00	6.96	5.81	4.53	3.14	1.69	0.00
\$65.00	9.64	9.55	8.88	8.13	7.28	6.32	5.27	4.11	2.86	1.55	0.00
\$70.00	8.83	8.76	8.14	7.45	6.67	5.79	4.83	3.77	2.62	1.42	0.00
\$75.00	8.14	8.08	7.51	6.87	6.15	5.34	4.45	3.47	2.42	1.32	0.00
\$80.00	7.54	7.48	6.96	6.36	5.70	4.95	4.13	3.22	2.25	1.23	0.00
\$85.00	7.01	6.96	6.47	5.92	5.30	4.61	3.85	3.01	2.10	1.15	0.00
\$90.00	6.54	6.50	6.05	5.53	4.96	4.31	3.60	2.81	1.97	1.08	0.00
\$175.00	2.74	2.74	2.57	2.37	2.13	1.87	1.57	1.24	0.87	0.48	0.00

\* Assumed issuance date of the 2017 notes.

The exact stock price and adjustment date may not be set forth on the table, in which case:

## Table of Contents

if the stock price is between two stock price amounts on the table or the adjustment date is between two adjustment dates on the table, the number of additional shares will be determined by a straight-line interpolation between the number of additional shares set forth for the higher and lower stock price amounts and the earlier and later adjustment dates based on a 365-day year, as applicable;

if the stock price is in excess of \$ per share (subject to adjustment in the same manner as the stock price), no increase in the conversion rate will be made; and

if the stock price is less than \$ per share (subject to adjustment in the same manner as the stock price), no increase in the conversion rate will be made.

31

Our obligations to deliver the additional shares to holders that convert their notes in connection with a make-whole fundamental change could be considered a penalty, in which case the enforceability thereof would be subject to general principles of reasonableness of economic remedies.

## Settlement of Conversions upon Make-whole Fundamental Changes

If, as described above under Increase of Conversion Rate upon Certain Fundamental Changes, we are required to increase the conversion rate by the additional shares as a result of a make-whole fundamental change, the averaging period for all notes converted in connection with such fundamental change (regardless of the actual conversion date) will consist of the five-trading day period immediately preceding (but not including) the date of effectiveness of the make-whole fundamental change. Notes surrendered for conversion in connection with a make-whole fundamental change will be settled as follows:

if the conversion date occurs prior to the date of effectiveness of such make-whole fundamental change, settlement shall occur no later than the third trading day immediately following such date of effectiveness; and

if the conversion date occurs on or following the date of effectiveness of such make-whole fundamental change, settlement shall occur no later than the third trading day immediately following such conversion date.

We will settle such conversions by delivering reference property equivalent to shares of our common stock based on the increased conversion rate resulting from such make-whole fundamental change.

For the avoidance of doubt, in the event notes are surrendered for conversion in connection with an anticipated make-whole fundamental change and such make-whole fundamental change does not in fact occur, no additional shares will be added to the conversion rate and no additional cash or reference property will be paid as a result of the related anticipated make-whole fundamental change.

## **Conversion Rate Adjustments**

This Conversion Rate Adjustments subsection describes adjustments to the base conversion rate to be made in connection with the events described below, as well as events that will not result in adjustment of the base conversion rate, treatment of rights and treatment of reference property. For purposes of this Conversion Rate Adjustments subsection, each adjustment event that applies to the base conversion rate shall also be applied to the incremental share factor in the same manner, and all other references to base conversion rate shall be deemed to refer to both the base conversion rate and the incremental share factor. Accordingly, for purposes of determining any adjustment to the incremental share factor or any other effect on the incremental share factor, each reference to the base conversion rate appearing below shall be replaced with a reference to the incremental share factor.

## Adjustment Events

The base conversion rate of each series of notes will be adjusted (and the incremental share factor of each series of notes will be proportionally adjusted in the same manner) as follows:

(1) upon the issuance of shares of our common stock as a dividend or distribution on shares of our common stock;

(2) upon certain subdivisions, splits, combinations or reclassifications of our outstanding common stock;

(3) upon the issuance to all holders of our common stock of rights or warrants (other than pursuant to any dividend reinvestment or share purchase plans) entitling them for a period of not more than 45 days from the issuance date thereof to subscribe for or purchase shares of our common stock, at a price per share less than the average of the closing prices of our common stock over the five consecutive trading day period ending on the trading day immediately preceding the date of announcement of such issuance,

provided that the base conversion rate for the notes will be readjusted to the extent that the rights or warrants are not exercised prior to their expiration;

(4) upon the distribution to all holders of our common stock of shares of our capital stock, evidences of indebtedness or other non-cash assets or property (including shares of capital stock or similar equity interests in or relating to a subsidiary or other business unit), or rights or warrants, excluding:

dividends, distributions and rights or warrants referred to in clause (1) or (3) above or a distribution referred to in clause (6) below, in each case pursuant to which an adjustment is made; and

distribution of rights pursuant to a shareholder rights plan;

(5) upon the occurrence of any dividend or any other distribution of cash (other than in connection with our liquidation, dissolution or winding up or as contemplated by clause (6) below) to all holders of our common stock, in which case, immediately prior to the opening of business on the ex date (as defined below) for the dividend or distribution, the base conversion rate shall be increased so that it equals an amount equal to the base conversion rate in effect at the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the ex date for the dividend or distribution multiplied by a fraction:

(a) whose numerator is the average of the closing price of our common stock for the five consecutive trading days ending on the date immediately preceding the ex date for such dividend or distribution; and

(b) whose denominator is the same average of the closing price of our common stock less the amount in cash per share of such dividend or distribution;

(6) upon the distribution of cash or other consideration by us or any of our subsidiaries in respect of a tender offer or exchange offer for any portion of our common stock, where such cash and the value of any such other consideration per share of our common stock validly tendered or exchanged exceeds the current market price (as defined in the indenture) per share of our common stock on the 10th trading day immediately following the last date (the expiration date ) on which tenders or exchanges may be made pursuant to the tender or exchange offer, as it may be amended, in which case, immediately prior to the opening of business on the ex date, the base conversion rate shall be increased so that it equals an amount equal to the base conversion rate in effect immediately before the close of business on the expiration date, multiplied by a fraction:

(a) whose numerator is the sum of:

(i) the aggregate amount of cash and the aggregate value of any such other consideration distributed in connection with the tender or exchange offer; and

(ii) the product of (A) the average market price per share of our common stock over the 10 consecutive trading day period commencing on the trading day immediately following the expiration date of such tender or exchange offer and (B) the number of shares of our common stock outstanding as of the last time (the expiration time) tenders or exchanges could have been made pursuant to the tender or exchange offer (excluding shares validly tendered and not withdrawn in connection with the tender or exchange offer and any shares held in our treasury); and

(b) whose denominator is the product of:

(i) the average market price per share of our common stock over the 10 consecutive trading day period commencing on the trading day immediately following the expiration date of such tender offer or exchange offer; and

## Table of Contents

(ii) the number of shares of our common stock outstanding as of the expiration time (including shares validly tendered and not withdrawn in connection with the tender offer or exchange offer, but excluding any shares held in our treasury).

#### **Table of Contents**

In the event that we are, or one of our subsidiaries is, obligated to purchase shares of our common stock pursuant to any such tender offer or exchange offer, but we are, or such subsidiary is, permanently prevented by applicable law from effecting any such purchases, or all or any portion of such purchases are rescinded, then the base conversion rate shall be readjusted to be the base conversion rate that would then be in effect if such tender offer or exchange offer had not been made or had only been made in respect of the purchases that had been effected. Except as set forth in the preceding sentence, if the application of this clause (6) to any tender offer or exchange offer under this clause (6). If an adjustment to the base conversion rate is required pursuant to this clause (6) during any settlement period in respect of notes that have been tendered for conversion, delivery of the related conversion consideration will be delayed to the extent necessary in order to complete the calculations provided for in this clause (6).

In the event that a distribution described in clause (4) above consists of capital stock of, or similar equity interests in, a subsidiary or other business unit of ours, then the base conversion rate will be adjusted based on the market value of the securities so distributed relative to the market value of our common stock, in each case based on the average closing sales price of those securities for the ten consecutive trading days commencing on and including the fifth trading day after the ex date.

For purposes hereof, the term ex date means:

when used with respect to any dividend or distribution, the first date on which the common stock trades, regular way, on the relevant exchange or in the relevant market from which the sale price was obtained without the right to receive such dividend or distribution; and

when used with respect to any tender offer or exchange offer, the first date on which the common stock trades, regular way, on the relevant exchange or in the relevant market from which the sale price was obtained after the expiration time.

No adjustment to the base conversion rate will be made if we provide that the holders of the notes will participate in the distribution without conversion. For the avoidance of doubt, if a distribution occurs that would generally result in adjustment of the number of shares deliverable to you as a portion of conversion consideration to which you are entitled, instead of making that adjustment, we may instead deem you to be a holder of record for purposes of that distribution so that you would receive the distribution at the time you receive the conversion consideration.

Whenever any provision of the indenture requires us to calculate an average of the closing price over a span of multiple days, we will make appropriate adjustments to account for any adjustment to the base conversion rate that becomes effective, or any event requiring an adjustment to the base conversion rate where the ex date of the event occurs, at any time during the period from which the average is to be calculated.

Adjustments to the base conversion rate will be calculated to the nearest 1/10,000th of a share. We will not be required to make an adjustment in the base conversion rate unless the adjustment would require a change of at least 1% in the base conversion rate. However, we will carry forward any adjustments that are less than 1% of the base conversion rate and take them into account in any subsequent adjustment of the base conversion rate or in connection with any conversion of the notes.

Events That Will Not Result in Adjustment

The base conversion rate will not be adjusted:

upon the issuance of any shares of our common stock pursuant to any present or future plan providing for the reinvestment of dividends or interest payable on our securities or the investment of additional optional amounts in shares of our common stock under any plan;

upon the issuance of any shares of our common stock or options or rights to purchase shares of our common stock pursuant to any present or future employee, director or consultant benefit plan or program of or assumed by us or any of our subsidiaries;

#### **Table of Contents**

upon the issuance of any shares of our common stock pursuant to any option, warrant, right or exercisable, exchangeable or convertible security not described in the preceding bullet and outstanding as of the time the notes were first issued;

for a change in the par value of the common stock; or

for accrued and unpaid interest, including additional interest, if any.

#### Treatment of Rights

In connection with our existing shareholder rights agreement or in the event we adopt or implement a subsequent shareholder rights agreement (each, a shareholder rights plan ) pursuant to which rights (rights) are distributed to the holders of our common stock and such shareholder rights plan provides that each share of common stock issued upon conversion of the notes at any time prior to the distribution of separate certificates representing such rights will be entitled to receive such rights, then there shall not be any adjustment to the conversion privilege or base conversion rate at any time prior to the distribution of separate certificates representing such rights. If, however, prior to any conversion, the rights have separated from the common stock, the base conversion rate shall be adjusted at the time of separation as if we distributed to all holders of our common stock, our assets, debt securities or rights as described in clause (4) under Adjustment Events above, subject to readjustment in the event of the expiration, termination or redemption of such Rights.

#### Treatment of Reference Property

In the event of:

any reclassification of our common stock (other than a change only in par value, or from par value to no par value or from no par value to par value, or a change as a result of a subdivision or combination of our common stock);

a statutory share exchange, consolidation, merger or combination involving us (other than a merger in which we are the continuing corporation and which does not result in any reclassification of, or change (other than in par value, or from par value to no par value, or from no par value to par value, or a change as a result of a subdivision or combination of our common stock) in, outstanding shares of our common stock); or

a sale or conveyance to another person of our property and assets as an entirety or substantially as an entirety,

in each case, as a result of which our common stock would be converted into, or exchanged for, stock, other securities, other property or assets (including cash or any combination thereof), then, at the effective time of the transaction, the right to convert a note will be changed into a right to convert it into the kind and amount of shares of stock, other securities or other property or assets (including cash or any combination thereof) that a holder of a number of shares of common stock equal to the conversion rate immediately prior to such transaction would have owned or been entitled to receive (the reference property ) upon such transaction (assuming for such purposes such conversion were settled entirely in our common stock and without giving effect to any adjustment to the conversion rate with respect to a transaction constituting a make-whole fundamental change as described in Increase of Conversion Rate upon Certain Fundamental Changes ) immediately prior to such transaction, except that such holders will not receive additional shares if such holder does not convert its notes in connection with the relevant make-whole fundamental change. If the transaction causes our common stock to be converted into the right to receive more than a single type of consideration (determined based in part upon any form of shareholder election), the reference property into which the notes will be

convertible will be deemed to be the weighted average of the types and amounts of such consideration received by the holders of our common stock that affirmatively make such an election.

### Voluntary Increases of Conversion Rate

Subject to applicable stock exchange rules and listing standards, we are permitted to increase the conversion rate of the notes by any amount for a period of at least 20 days if our Board of Directors determines that such increase would be in our best interest. We are required to give at least 15 days prior notice of any increase in the conversion rate. Subject to applicable stock exchange rules and listing standards, we may also increase the conversion rate to avoid or diminish any tax to holders of our common stock in connection with a dividend or distribution of stock or similar event.

### **Conversion Procedures**

The right of conversion attaching to any note may be exercised (a) if such note is represented by a global note, by book-entry transfer to the conversion agent (which will initially be the trustee) through the facilities of DTC or (b) if such note is represented by a certificated security, by delivery of such note at the specified office of the conversion agent, accompanied, in either case, by a duly signed and completed conversion notice and appropriate endorsements and transfer documents if required by the conversion agent. The conversion date shall be the date on which the note and all of the items required for conversion shall have been so delivered and the requirements for conversion have been met.

Certificates representing shares of our common stock will be issued or delivered only after all applicable taxes and duties, if any, payable by the holder have been paid, and payment of any tax or duty which may be payable in respect of any transfer involving the issue or delivery of our common stock in the name of a person other than the holder of the note.

The notes will be deemed to have been converted immediately prior to the close of business on the conversion date. Delivery of shares will be accomplished by delivery to the conversion agent of certificates for the relevant number of shares, other than in the case of holders of notes in book-entry form with DTC, which shares shall be delivered in accordance with DTC customary practices. A holder will not be entitled to any rights as a holder of our common stock, including, among other things, the right to vote and receive dividends and notices of shareholder meetings, until the conversion is effective.

As soon as practicable following the conversion date and the completion of the relevant calculations relating to the conversion consideration (and, except as set forth under Settlement of Conversions upon Make-whole Fundamental Changes, in any event no later than the third trading day immediately following the averaging period) we will cause to be delivered to such holder certificates representing the number of whole shares of our common stock into which the notes are converted and cash in lieu of fractional shares.

### Subordination

The payment of the principal of and interest (including any additional interest) on the notes will be subordinated in right of payment, as set forth in the indenture, to the prior payment in full of all senior indebtedness of ADC, whether outstanding on the issuance date or thereafter incurred. The notes also will be effectively subordinated to the indebtedness and other liabilities of the subsidiaries of ADC. In addition, the notes will be effectively junior to our secured indebtedness, if any, to the extent of the collateral securing such indebtedness.

If payment of the notes is accelerated because of an event of default, we will promptly notify the holders of the senior indebtedness.

Upon any distribution to creditors of ADC in liquidation or dissolution of ADC or in a bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, receivership or similar proceeding relating to ADC, any assignment for the benefit of creditors or any marshaling of ADC s assets and liabilities, the holders of senior indebtedness would be entitled to receive payment in full in cash of all obligations due in respect of such senior indebtedness (including interest accruing after, or which would accrue but for, the commencement of any proceeding at the rate specified in the applicable senior indebtedness, whether or not a claim for such interest would be allowed) before the holders of the notes will be entitled to receive any payment with respect to the notes.

#### **Table of Contents**

As a result of these subordination provisions, in the event of our bankruptcy, dissolution, liquidation, insolvency or reorganization, holders of senior indebtedness may recover more, ratably, and holders of the notes may recover less, ratably, than our other creditors.

We may not make any payment with respect to the notes if:

a default in the payment of designated senior indebtedness occurs and continues beyond any applicable grace period;

any other default occurs and continues with respect to designated senior indebtedness that permits holders of designated senior indebtedness or their representatives to accelerate its maturity, and the trustee receives a payment blockage notice from the holders of designated senior indebtedness or their representatives; or

any judicial proceeding shall be pending with respect to any payment default or non-payment default.

We may and shall resume payments with respect to the notes:

in the case of a payment default, on the date on which such default is cured or waived or ceases to exist;

in the case of a non-payment default, on the earlier of the date on which such non-payment default is cured or waived or ceases to exist or 179 calendar days after the receipt of the payment blockage notice; and

in the case of either a payment default or a non-payment default, after the senior indebtedness has been indefeasibly paid in full.

No new period of payment blockage pursuant to a payment blockage notice may start unless at least 90 days have elapsed during which no default with respect to designated senior indebtedness has occurred or was continuing and in no event shall more than two payment blockage notices become effective during any 365-day period.

No non-payment default that existed or was continuing on the date of delivery of any payment blockage notice to the trustee shall be, or be made the basis for, a subsequent payment blockage notice.

The subordination provisions will not prevent the occurrence of any event of default under the indenture, but they may affect the trustee s ability to enforce the rights of the holders of the notes if an event of default occurs.

If the trustee, the paying agent or any holder receives any payment or distribution of assets in contravention of these subordination provisions before all senior indebtedness is paid in full in cash, then such payment or distribution will be held in trust for the holders of senior indebtedness to the extent necessary to make payment in full in cash of all unpaid senior indebtedness.

The notes are obligations exclusively of ADC. Since a portion of our operations are conducted through subsidiaries, our cash flow and our ability to service debt, including the notes, are dependent in part upon the earnings of our subsidiaries and any distribution of those earnings to us, or upon loans or other payments of funds by those subsidiaries to us. The payment of dividends and the making of loans and advances by our subsidiaries may be subject to statutory or contractual restrictions and are dependent upon the earnings of those subsidiaries. Consequently, the right of the holders of the notes to participate in those assets will be effectively subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities (other than indebtedness and other liabilities owed to us).

As of October 31, 2007, ADC had no senior indebtedness and no designated senior indebtedness, while its subsidiaries had approximately \$204.9 million in indebtedness and other liabilities (excluding intercompany liabilities). The indenture will not limit the amount of additional indebtedness, including senior indebtedness, that we may incur, nor will it limit the amount of indebtedness or other liabilities that any of our subsidiaries may incur. Such indebtedness may be substantial.

### As used herein:

*Designated senior indebtedness* means any senior indebtedness in which the instrument creating or evidencing the indebtedness, or any related agreements or documents to which we are a party, expressly provides that such indebtedness is designated senior indebtedness for purposes of the indenture (provided that the instrument, agreement or other document may place limitations and conditions on the right of the senior indebtedness to exercise the rights of designated senior indebtedness).

### Indebtedness means:

(1) all of our indebtedness, obligations and other liabilities, contingent or otherwise, (a) for borrowed money, including overdrafts, foreign exchange contracts, currency exchange agreements, interest rate protection agreements, and any loans or advances from banks, whether or not evidenced by notes or similar instruments, or (b) evidenced by credit or loan agreements, bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, whether or not the recourse of the lender is to the whole of the assets of ADC or any of its subsidiaries or to only a portion thereof;

(2) all of our reimbursement obligations and other liabilities, contingent or otherwise, with respect to letters of credit, bank guarantees or bankers acceptances;

(3) all of our obligations and other liabilities, contingent or otherwise, in respect of leases required, in conformity with GAAP, to be accounted for as capitalized lease obligations on our balance sheet;

(4) all of our obligations and other liabilities, contingent or otherwise, under any lease, purchase agreement, conditional sale or other title retention agreement, in connection with the lease or purchase of real property or improvements thereon (or any personal property included as part of any such lease) which provides that we are contractually obligated to purchase or cause a third party to purchase the leased property or pay an agreed upon residual value of the leased property, including our obligations under such lease or related documents to purchase or cause a third party to purchase such leased property or pay an agreed upon residual value of the leased property to the leased property to the leased;

(5) all of our obligations, contingent or otherwise, with respect to an interest rate or other swap, cap, floor or collar agreement or hedge agreement, forward contract or other similar instrument or agreement or foreign currency hedge, exchange, purchase or similar instrument or agreement;

(6) all of our obligations for the deferred purchase price of property or services (including accrued salaries, vacation and other employee benefits but excluding trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business);

(7) all direct or indirect guarantees or similar agreements by us in respect of, and all of our obligations or liabilities to purchase or otherwise acquire or otherwise assure a creditor against loss in respect of, indebtedness, obligations or liabilities of another person of the kinds described in clauses (1) through (6); and

(8) any and all deferrals, renewals, extensions, refinancings and refundings of, or amendments, modifications or supplements to, any indebtedness, obligation or liability of the kinds described in clauses (1) through (7).

*Senior indebtedness* means the principal of, premium, if any, interest, including any interest accruing after the commencement of any bankruptcy or similar proceeding, whether or not a claim for post-petition interest is allowed as a claim in the proceeding, and rent payable on or in connection with, and all fees, costs, expenses and other amounts accrued or due on or in connection with, our indebtedness whether secured or unsecured, absolute or contingent, due

or to become due, outstanding on the date of the indenture or thereafter created, incurred, assumed, guaranteed or in effect guaranteed by us, including

all deferrals, renewals, extensions, or refundings of, or amendments, modifications or supplements to, the foregoing. Senior indebtedness does not include:

(1) indebtedness that expressly provides that such indebtedness shall not be senior in right of payment to the notes or expressly provides that such indebtedness is on the same basis or junior to the notes; and

(2) any indebtedness to any of our majority-owned subsidiaries, other than indebtedness to our subsidiaries arising by reason of guarantees by us of indebtedness of such subsidiary to a person that is not our subsidiary.

### Repurchase of Notes at the Option of Holders upon a Fundamental Change

In the event of a fundamental change (as defined below), each holder will have the right at its option, subject to the terms and conditions of the indenture, to require us to repurchase some or all of such holder s notes for cash in integral multiples of \$1,000 principal amount, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes being repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest (including any additional interest), if any, to, but not including, the repurchase date. We will be required to repurchase the notes on a date that is not less than 20 nor more than 30 business days after the date we mail the notice referred to below.

Within 15 business days after a fundamental change has become effective, we must mail to all holders of the notes at their addresses shown in the register of the registrar, and to beneficial owners, as required by applicable law, a notice regarding the fundamental change, which notice must state, among other things;

the events causing such fundamental change;

the date of such fundamental change;

the last date on which a holder may exercise the repurchase right;

the repurchase price;

the repurchase date;

the names and addresses of the paying and conversion agents;

the conversion rate, and any increase to the conversion rate that resulted from the fundamental change;

that notes with respect to which a repurchase notice is given by the holder may be converted, only if the repurchase notice has been withdrawn in accordance with the terms of the indenture; and

the procedures that holders must follow to exercise the right.

To exercise this right, a holder must transmit to the paying agent a written repurchase notice, and such repurchase notice must be received by the paying agent no later than the close of business on the repurchase date. The repurchase notice must state:

the certificate numbers of the notes to be delivered by the holder, if applicable;

the portion of the principal amount of notes to be repurchased, which portion must be \$1,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000; and

that such notes are being tendered for repurchase pursuant to the fundamental change provisions of the indenture.

A holder may withdraw any repurchase notice by delivering to the paying agent a written notice of withdrawal prior to the close of business on the repurchase date. The notice of withdrawal must state:

the certificate numbers of the notes being withdrawn, if applicable;

the principal amount of notes being withdrawn, which must be \$1,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000; and

the principal amount, if any, of the notes that remain subject to the repurchase notice.

39

#### **Table of Contents**

If the notes are not in certificated form, the foregoing notices from holders must comply with the applicable DTC procedures.

We will agree under the indenture to:

comply with the provisions of Rule 13e-4, Rule 14e-1 and any other tender offer rules under the Exchange Act that may then be applicable; and

otherwise comply with all federal and state securities laws in connection with any offer by us to repurchase the notes upon a fundamental change.

Our obligation to pay the repurchase price for a note for which a repurchase notice has been delivered and not validly withdrawn is conditioned upon book-entry transfer or delivery of the note, together with necessary endorsements, to the paying agent at any time after the delivery of such repurchase notice. We will cause the repurchase price for such note to be paid promptly following the later of the repurchase date or the time of book-entry transfer or delivery of such note.

If the paying agent holds money sufficient to pay the repurchase price of a note for which a repurchase notice has been delivered on the business day following the repurchase date in accordance with the terms of the indenture, then, on and after the repurchase date, the notes will cease to be outstanding and interest (including additional interest), if any, on such notes will cease to accrue, whether or not the notes are transferred by book entry or delivered to the paying agent. Thereafter, all rights of the holder shall terminate, other than the right to receive the repurchase price upon book-entry transfer or delivery of the note.

A fundamental change will be deemed to have occurred upon the occurrence of any of the following:

(1) a person or group within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act becomes the direct or indirect beneficial owner, as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, of shares of our common stock representing more than 50% of the voting power of our common stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors and (i) files a Schedule 13D or Schedule TO or any other schedule, form or report under the Exchange Act disclosing such beneficial ownership or (ii) we otherwise become aware of any such person or group; or

(2) the common stock into which the notes are then convertible ceases to be listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq Global Market or another national securities exchange and is not then quoted on an established automated over-the-counter trading market in the United States;

(3) the first day on which a majority of the members of our board of directors does not consist of continuing directors; or

(4) a consolidation, merger or binding share exchange, or any conveyance, transfer, sale, lease or other disposition in a single transaction or a series of transactions of all or substantially all of our properties and assets other than:

any transaction:

(i) that does not result in any reclassification, conversion, exchange or cancellation of outstanding shares of our capital stock; and

(ii) pursuant to which holders of our capital stock immediately prior to the transaction have the entitlement to exercise, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the total voting power of all shares of capital stock entitled to vote generally in elections of directors of the continuing or surviving or successor person immediately after giving effect to such transaction in substantially the same proportion as their entitlement to exercise, directly or indirectly, voting power of shares of our capital stock entitled to vote generally in elections of our directors immediately prior to such transaction; or

any transaction that is effected solely for the purpose of changing our jurisdiction of incorporation and resulting in a reclassification, conversion or exchange of outstanding shares of common stock, if at all, solely into shares of our common stock of the surviving entity or a direct or indirect parent of the surviving corporation; or

40

#### **Table of Contents**

any transaction with any of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, so long as such transaction is not part of a plan or a series of transactions designed to or having the effect of merging or consolidating with, or conveying, transferring, selling, leasing or disposing of all or substantially all our properties and assets to any other person or persons.

(5) our shareholders approve any plan or proposal for our liquidation or dissolution.

For purposes of this fundamental change definition:

*board of directors* means the board of directors or other governing body charged with the ultimate management of any person;

*continuing director* means a director who either was a member of our board of directors on the date the notes are first issued or who becomes a member of our board of directors subsequent to that date and whose election, appointment or nomination for election by our shareholders is duly approved by a majority of the continuing directors on our board of directors at the time of such approval, either by a specific vote or by approval of the proxy statement issued by us on behalf of our entire board of directors in which such individual is named as a nominee for director; and

the term person includes any syndicate or group that would be deemed to be a person under Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act.

However, a fundamental change will be deemed not to have occurred if more than 90% of the consideration in the transaction or transactions (other than cash payments for fractional shares and cash payments made in respect of dissenters appraisal rights) which otherwise would constitute a fundamental change under clause (4) above consists of shares of common stock, depositary receipts or other certificates representing common equity interests traded or to be traded immediately following such transaction on a U.S. national securities exchange and, as a result of the transaction or transactions, the notes become convertible into such common stock, depositary receipts or other certificates representing common equity interests (and any rights attached thereto) and other applicable consideration.

The definition of fundamental change includes a phrase relating to the conveyance, transfer, sale, lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of our properties and assets. Although there is a developing body of case law interpreting the phrase substantially all, there is no precise established definition of the phrase under applicable law. Accordingly, the ability of a holder of notes to require us to repurchase the notes as a result of a conveyance, transfer, sale, lease or other disposition of less than all of our properties and assets may be uncertain.

This fundamental change repurchase feature may make more difficult or discourage a takeover of us and the removal of incumbent management. We are not, however, aware of any specific effort to accumulate shares of our common stock or to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, solicitation or otherwise. In addition, the fundamental change repurchase feature is not part of a plan by management to adopt a series of antitakeover provisions. Instead, the fundamental change repurchase feature is a result of negotiations between us and the underwriters.

The term fundamental change is limited to specified transactions and may not include other events that might adversely affect our financial condition. In addition, the requirement that we offer to purchase the notes upon a fundamental change may not protect holders in the event of a highly leveraged transaction, reorganization, merger or similar transaction involving us.

We could, in the future, enter into certain transactions, including mergers or recapitalizations, that would not constitute a fundamental change but would increase the amount of debt, including other senior indebtedness, outstanding or otherwise adversely affect a holder. Neither we nor our subsidiaries are prohibited from incurring debt, including other senior indebtedness, under the indenture. The incurrence of significant amounts of additional debt could adversely affect our ability to service our debt, including the notes.

Our ability to repurchase notes may be limited by restrictions on our ability to obtain funds for such repurchase through dividends from our subsidiaries and the terms of our then existing borrowing agreements.

#### **Table of Contents**

Our failure to repurchase the notes when required would result in an event of default with respect to the notes. We cannot assure holders that we would have the financial resources, or would be able to arrange financing, to pay the repurchase price for all the notes that might be delivered by holders of notes seeking to exercise the repurchase right. See Risk Factors Risks Related to the Notes, Our Common Stock and this Offering We may not have the ability to repurchase the notes in cash upon the occurrence of fundamental change as required by the indenture governing the notes.

No notes may be purchased at the option of holders upon a fundamental change if there has occurred and is continuing an event of default other than an event of default that is cured by the payment of the fundamental change purchase price of the notes.

#### **Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets**

We may not consolidate with or merge into any other person or convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of our properties and assets to any successor person in a single transaction or series of transactions, unless:

we are the continuing person or the resulting, surviving or transferee person, if other than us, is a corporation or limited liability company (*provided*, that the successor may be a limited liability company only if the notes remain convertible into the common stock of a corporation), organized and validly existing under the laws of the United States of America, any state of the United States of America, or the District of Columbia and assumes our obligations on the notes and under the indenture;

immediately after giving effect to the transaction, no default or event of default shall have occurred and be continuing;

if as a result of such transaction the notes become convertible into common stock or other securities issued by a third party, such third party fully and unconditionally guarantees all obligations of us or such successor under the notes and the indenture; and

other conditions described in the indenture are met.

When such a person assumes our obligations in such circumstances, subject to certain exceptions, we shall be discharged from all obligations under the notes and the indenture. Although the indenture permits these transactions, some of the transactions could constitute a fundamental change of us and permit each holder to require us to repurchase the notes of such holder as described under Repurchase of Notes at the Option of Holders upon a Fundamental Change. An assumption of our obligations under the notes for new notes by such person might be deemed for U.S. federal income tax purposes to be an exchange of the notes for new notes by the beneficial owners thereof, possibly resulting in recognition of gain or loss for such purposes and other adverse tax consequences to the beneficial owner. You should consult your own tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of such an assumption.

This covenant includes a phrase relating to the conveyance, transfer, sale, lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of our properties and assets. Although there is a developing body of case law interpreting the phrase

substantially all, there is no precise established definition of the phrase under applicable law. Accordingly, the effect of this covenant may be uncertain in connection with a conveyance, transfer, sale, lease or other disposition of less than all of our properties and assets.

### Reports

The indenture governing the notes provides that any documents or reports that we are required to file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act will be delivered to the trustee within 30 days after the same is required to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

### **Events of Default**

Each of the following constitutes an event of default with respect to the notes under each indenture:

(1) a default in the payment when due of any principal of any of the notes at maturity, upon exercise of a repurchase right or otherwise, whether or not such payment is prohibited by the subordination provisions of the indenture;

(2) a default in the payment of any interest or additional interest, if any, when due under the notes, which default continues for 30 days, whether or not such payment is prohibited by the subordination provisions of the indenture;

(3) our failure to deliver all shares of common stock when such common stock is required to be delivered upon conversion of a note and we do not remedy such default within five business days;

(4) a default in our obligation to provide notice of the occurrence of a fundamental change when required by the indenture and we do not remedy such default within five business days;

(5) our failure to comply with any of our other agreements in the notes or the indenture upon receipt of written notice to us of such default from the trustee or to us and the trustee from holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding, and our failure to cure (or obtain a waiver of) such default within 60 days after we receive such notice;

(6) the acceleration of principal and/or accrued interest with respect to indebtedness, where the amount of such accelerated principal and/or interest is in an amount in excess of \$40.0 million because of a default with respect to such indebtedness, without such acceleration having been cured, waived, rescinded or annulled within a period of 30 days after written notice to us by the trustee or to us and the trustee by the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding. However, if any such acceleration shall cease or be cured, waived, rescinded or annulled, then the event of default by reason thereof shall be deemed not to have occurred and any acceleration as a result of the related event of default shall be automatically rescinded; and

(7) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of us or any of our significant subsidiaries (as defined in Regulation S-X 1-02(w)).

If an event of default other than an event of default described in clause (7) above with respect to us occurs and is continuing, either the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding may declare the principal amount of the notes then outstanding plus any interest on the notes accrued and unpaid (including any additional interest), if any, through the date of such declaration to be immediately due and payable. The indenture provides that if an event of default described in clause (7) above with respect to us occurs, the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional interest), if any, will automatically become immediately due and payable. However, the effect of such provision may be limited by applicable law and will be subject to prior payment in full of all senior indebtedness. Under certain circumstances, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding notes may rescind such acceleration with respect to the notes and, as discussed below, waive these past defaults.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the indenture will provide that, to the extent elected by us, the sole remedy for an event of default relating to the failure to file any documents or reports that we are required to file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and for any failure to comply with the requirements of Section 314(a)(1) of the Trust Indenture Act or of the covenant described above in Reports, will for the first 90 days after the occurrence of such an event of default consist exclusively of the right to receive additional interest on the notes at an annual rate of 0.25% of the principal amount of the notes. If we so elect, such additional interest will

accrue on all outstanding notes from and including the date on which an event of default relating to a failure to comply with the reporting obligations in the indenture first occurs to but not including the 91st day thereafter (or such earlier date on which the event of default relating to the reporting obligations shall have been cured or waived). On such 91st day (or earlier, if the event of default relating to the reporting obligations is cured or waived prior to such 91st day), such additional interest

will cease to accrue and, if the event of default relating to reporting obligations has not been cured or waived prior to such 91st day, the notes will be subject to acceleration as provided above. The provisions of the indenture described in this paragraph will not affect the rights of holders of notes in the event of the occurrence of any other event of default. For the avoidance of doubt, the additional interest shall not begin accruing until we fail to perform the reporting covenant for a period of 60 calendar days after written notice of such failure is given to us by the trustee or to us and the trustee by the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of notes then outstanding. In the event we do not elect to pay the additional interest in accordance with this paragraph, the notes will be subject to acceleration as provided above.

In order to elect to pay the additional interest as the sole remedy during the first 90 days after the occurrence of an event of default relating to the failure to comply with the reporting obligations in accordance with the immediately preceding paragraph, we must notify the trustee and the paying agent of such election on or before the close of business on the date on which such event of default occurs. Upon our failure to timely give such notice or pay the additional interest, the notes will be subject to acceleration as provided above.

At any time after a declaration of acceleration has been made, but before a judgment or decree for payment of money has been obtained by the trustee, and subject to applicable law and certain other provisions of the indenture, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding may, under certain circumstances, rescind and annul such acceleration.

Subject to the indenture, applicable law and the trustee s indemnification, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes will have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on the trustee with respect to the notes.

No holder will have any right to institute any proceeding under the indenture or the notes, or for the appointment of a receiver or a trustee, or for any other remedy under the indenture or the notes unless:

the holder has previously given the trustee written notice of a continuing event of default;

the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding have made a written request and have offered indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the trustee to institute such proceeding as trustee;

the trustee does not receive an inconsistent direction from the holders of a majority in principal amount of outstanding notes; and

the trustee has failed to institute such proceeding within 60 days after such notice, request and offer, and has not received from the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding a direction inconsistent with such request within 60 days after such notice, request and offer.

However, the above limitations do not apply to a suit instituted by a holder for the enforcement of payment of the principal of or any interest (including any additional interest) on any note on or after the applicable due date or the right to convert the note in accordance with the indenture.

Generally, the holders of not less than a majority of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding notes may waive any default or event of default other than:

our failure to pay principal of or any interest (including additional interest), if any, on any note when due or the payment of any repurchase price;

our failure to convert any note into shares of our common stock in accordance with the terms of the indenture; and

our failure to comply with any of the provisions of the indenture that cannot be modified without the consent of the holder of each outstanding note.

We are required to furnish to the trustee, on an annual basis, a statement by our officers as to whether or not we, to the officers knowledge, are in default in the performance or observance of any of the terms, provisions and conditions of the indenture, specifying any known defaults.

If an event of default occurs, any notes in book-entry form only at DTC will be exchangeable for notes in certificated form registered in the name of the beneficial owner or its nominee.

A default in the payment of the notes, or a default with respect to the notes that causes them to be accelerated, may give rise to a cross-default under our existing and future borrowing arrangements.

### **Modification and Waiver**

Except as described below, we and the trustee may amend or supplement the indenture or the notes with the consent of the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes. In addition, subject to certain exceptions, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes may, without notice to the holders, waive our compliance in any instance with any provision of the indenture or waive any past default under the indenture and its consequences, except a default in the payment of any amount due, or in the obligation to deliver common stock, with respect to any note or in respect of any provision which under the indenture cannot be modified or amended without the consent of the holder of each outstanding note affected. However, no amendment, supplement or waiver may be made without the consent of the holder of each outstanding note if such amendment, supplement or waiver would:

(1) change the stated maturity of the principal of or the payment date of any installment of interest or additional interest on or with respect to the notes;

(2) reduce the principal amount, repurchase price or the conversion rate (except in a manner provided for in the indenture) of any note or the rate of interest or additional interest on any note;

(3) reduce the amount of principal payable upon acceleration of the maturity of any note;

(4) change the currency in which the principal, repurchase price or interest with respect to the notes is payable;

(5) impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on, or with respect to, any note;

(6) modify the provisions with respect to the repurchase rights of the holders described under Repurchase of Notes at the Option of Holders upon a Fundamental Change in a manner adverse to holders;

(7) adversely affect the right of holders to convert notes in any material respect, other than as provided in the indenture;

(8) modify the subordination provisions in a manner adverse to holders;

(9) reduce the percentage in principal amount of the outstanding notes, the consent of whose holders is required in order to take specific actions including, but not limited to, the waiver of past defaults or the modification or amendment of the indenture; or

(10) alter the manner of calculation or rate of accrual of interest or additional interest, repurchase price or the conversion rate (except in a manner provided for in the indenture) on any note or extend the time for payment of any

such amount.

We and the trustee may amend or supplement the indenture or the notes without notice to, or the consent of the holders to, among other things:

(1) cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency;

(2) provide for uncertificated notes in addition to or in place of certificated notes;

(3) provide for the assumption of our obligations to holders of notes in the case of a share exchange, merger or consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets;

(4) add a guarantor;

(5) comply with requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the indenture under the Trust Indenture Act;

(6) secure the notes;

(7) increase the conversion rate;

(8) comply with the rules of any applicable securities depositary, including DTC;

(9) conform the text of the indenture or the notes to any provision of this description of the notes to the extent that the text of this description of notes was intended by us and the underwriters to be a recitation of the text of the indenture or the notes as represented by us to the trustee in an officers certificate;

(10) provide for a successor trustee in accordance with the terms of the indenture or to otherwise comply with any requirement of the indenture;

(11) provide for the issuance of additional notes, to the extent that we and the trustee deem such amendment necessary or advisable in connection with such issuance; provided that no such amendment or supplement may impair the rights or interests of any holder of the outstanding notes;

(12) add to our covenants or events of default for the benefit of the holders or surrender any right or power conferred upon us;

(13) establish the forms or terms of the notes if issued in certificated form; or

(14) make any change to the indenture or forms or terms of the notes that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the holders of notes or that does not adversely affect in any material respect the legal rights under the indenture or the notes of any such holder.

However, no modification or amendment may be made to the subordination provisions of the indenture that adversely affects the rights of any holder of senior indebtedness then outstanding unless the holders of such senior indebtedness (or any group of representative thereof authorized to give a consent) consent to such change.

### Satisfaction and Discharge

We may satisfy and discharge our obligations under the indenture by delivering to the trustee for cancellation all outstanding notes or by depositing with the paying agent or conversion agent, as the case may be, after the notes have become due and payable, whether at maturity or any repurchase date or by delivery of a notice of conversion or otherwise, cash, shares or other consideration (as applicable under the terms of the indenture) sufficient to pay all of the outstanding notes and paying all other sums payable under the indenture. Such discharge is subject to terms contained in the indenture.

### **Calculations in Respect of the Notes**

We or our agents will be responsible for making all calculations called for under the notes. These calculations include, but are not limited to, determination of the sale price of our common stock and the amount of any increase in the conversion rate for any notes converted in connection with a make-whole fundamental change. We or our agents will make all these calculations in good faith and, absent manifest error, our and their calculations will be final and binding on holders of notes. We or our agents will provide a schedule of these calculations to the trustee, and the trustee is entitled to conclusively rely upon the accuracy of these calculations without independent verification.

### **Governing Law**

The indenture and the notes are governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.

### No Personal Liability of Directors, Officers, Employees and Shareholders

No director, officer, employee, incorporator, shareholder or partner of ours, as such, will have any liability for any of our obligations under the notes, the indenture or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or their creation. Each holder of notes by accepting a note waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for issuance of the notes. The waiver may not be effective to waive liabilities under the federal securities laws.

### **Concerning the Trustee, Paying Agent and Conversion Agent**

U.S. Bank National Association will be the trustee for the notes. The trustee will be the paying agent, conversion agent and registrar for the notes.

If the trustee becomes one of our creditors, the indenture limits the right of the trustee to obtain payment of claims in certain cases, or to realize on certain property received in respect of any such claims, as security or otherwise. The trustee will be permitted to engage in other transactions; if, however, after a default has occurred and is continuing, it acquires any conflicting interest, it must eliminate such conflict with 90 days, apply to the SEC for permission to continue as trustee or resign.

### **Book-Entry Delivery and Form**

We will initially issue the notes in the form of one or more global notes. The global note will be deposited with the trustee as custodian for DTC and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as DTC s nominee. Except as set forth below, the global note may be transferred, in whole and not in part, only to DTC or another nominee of DTC. Holders may hold their beneficial interests in the global note directly through DTC if they have an account with DTC or indirectly through organizations that have accounts with DTC. Notes in definitive certificated form (called certificated securities ) will be issued only in certain limited circumstances described below.

DTC has advised us that it is:

a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York;

a member of the Federal Reserve System;

- a clearing corporation within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code; and
- a clearing agency registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act.

DTC was created to hold securities of institutions that have accounts with DTC (called participants ) and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among its participants in such securities through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of the participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. DTC s participants include securities brokers and dealers, which may include the underwriters, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. Access to DTC s book-entry system is also available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies (called the indirect participants ) that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, whether directly or indirectly.

Ownership of beneficial interests in the global note will be limited to participants or persons that may hold interests through participants. Ownership of beneficial interests in the global note will be shown on, and the transfer of those beneficial interests will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC (with respect to participants interests), the participants and the indirect participants. The laws of some jurisdictions may require that certain purchasers of securities take physical delivery of such securities in definitive form. These limits and laws may impair the ability to transfer or pledge beneficial interests in the global note.

Owners of beneficial interests in global notes who desire to convert their notes in accordance with the indenture should contact their brokers or other participants or indirect participants through whom they hold such beneficial interests to obtain information on procedures, including proper forms and cut-off times, for submitting requests for conversion.

So long as DTC, or its nominee, is the registered owner or holder of a global note, DTC or its nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the notes represented by the global note for all purposes under the indenture and the notes. In addition, no owner of a beneficial interest in a global note will be able to transfer that interest except in accordance with the applicable procedures of DTC. Except as set forth below, as an owner of a beneficial interest in the global note, holders will not be entitled to have the notes represented by the global note registered in their name, will not receive or be entitled to receive physical delivery of certificated securities and will not be considered to be the owner or holder of any notes under the global note. We understand that, under existing industry practice, if an owner of a beneficial interest in the global note, is entitled to take, DTC would authorize the participants to take such action, and the participants would authorize beneficial owners owning through such participants to take such action or would otherwise act upon the instructions of beneficial owners owning through them.

We will make payments of principal of, and any interest on, the notes represented by the global note registered in the name of and held by DTC or its nominee to DTC or its nominee, as the case may be, as the registered owner and holder of the global note. We expect that DTC or its nominee, upon receipt of any payment of principal of, or interest on, the global note, will credit participants accounts with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount of the global note as shown on the records of DTC or its nominee. We also expect that payments by participants or indirect participants to owners of beneficial interests in the global note held through such participants or indirect participants or indirect participants. Neither we, the trustee nor any paying agent or conversion agent will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial interests or for any other aspect of the relationship between DTC and its participants or indirect participants or the relationship between such participants or indirect participants and the owners of beneficial interests in the global note for any other aspect of the relationship between DTC and its participants or indirect participants or the relationship between such participants or indirect participants or for maintaining.

Transfers between participants in DTC will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled in same-day funds.

DTC has advised us that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of notes only at the direction of one or more participants to whose account the DTC interests in the global note is credited, and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount of notes as to which such participant or participants has or have given such direction. If, however, DTC notifies us that it is unwilling to be a depository for the global note or ceases to be a clearing agency, and we do not appoint a successor depositary within 90 days, or if there is an event of default under the notes, we will exchange the global note for certificated securities, which we will distribute to DTC participants.

Although DTC is expected to follow the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of interests in the global security among participants of DTC, it is under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. Neither we nor the trustee will have any responsibility or liability for the performance by DTC or the participants or indirect participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their respective operations. If DTC is at any time unwilling or unable to continue as depositary and a successor depositary is not appointed by us within 90 days, global notes will be exchangeable for notes in certificated form. In addition, a beneficial interest in a global note will be exchangeable for a note in certificated form if (1) we decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfer through DTC (or any

successor depositary) or (2) an event of default has occurred and is continuing.

### DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

#### General

This section summarizes the general terms of our capital stock. The following description is only a summary and does not purport to be complete and is qualified by reference to our articles of incorporation (as amended and restated) and our restated bylaws. Our articles of incorporation (as amended and restated) and our restated bylaws are incorporated in this prospectus by reference. See Where You Can Find More Information for information on how to obtain copies.

#### **Authorized Capital Stock**

Our authorized capital stock consists of 342,857,142 shares of common stock, par value \$0.20 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, no par value. As of December 12, 2007, there were approximately 117,582,252 shares of our common stock outstanding, approximately 6,843,309 shares of our common stock reserved to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, and no shares of our preferred stock outstanding. We have no current plans to issue any shares of preferred stock. However, 2,000,000 shares of our preferred stock have been designated as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (Series A Preferred Stock), which are issuable upon the exercise of the preferred stock purchase rights described below under Anti-Takeover Provisions of Minnesota Law and Our Charter Documents; Rights Agreement.

#### **Common Stock**

Shares of our common stock:

entitle the holder to receive, when and as declared by our board of directors out of earnings or surplus legally available for payment, dividends, payable in cash, property or shares of our capital stock, subject to the preferences of any preferred stock outstanding at the time;

entitle the holder to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders, including the election of directors, subject to the preferences of any preferred stock outstanding at the time;

do not entitle the holder to any right to cumulate votes in the election of directors;

do not grant the holder any preemptive rights to subscribe to any issue of shares of any class; and

otherwise do not have any special powers, preferences or rights and are not subject to any special qualifications, limitations or restrictions.

### **Preferred Stock**

Our board of directors is authorized, without action by the shareholders, to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix the designations, powers, preferences and rights of, and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions on, the shares of each series.

Our board of directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of our common stock.

The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, adversely affect the voting power of holders of our common stock and, under certain circumstances, delay, defer or prevent a third party from gaining control of ADC because the issuance of new shares could be used to dilute the stock ownership of such third party.

### Anti-Takeover Provisions of Minnesota Law and Our Charter Documents; Rights Agreement

The following is a summary of various provisions of Minnesota law and our articles of incorporation, bylaws and rights agreement that may make more difficult or delay a takeover of us and the removal of incumbent management. This, in turn, may inhibit fluctuations in the market price of our shares that could

49

#### Table of Contents

result from actual or rumored takeover attempts and discourage tender offers or other attempts to acquire our common stock at a premium over its market price. The following descriptions of certain provisions of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act and our articles of incorporation, bylaws and rights agreement are only summaries and do not purport to be complete, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the Minnesota Business Corporation Act and our articles of incorporation, the presence to the Minnesota Business Corporation Act and our articles of incorporation, bylaws and rights agreement, respectively.

*Minnesota Control Share Acquisition Act.* We are subject to Section 671 of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act, which in general provides that the holders of a majority of the voting power of the stock held by shareholders unaffiliated with the acquiring shareholder approve, in advance, any control share acquisition. If the acquiror fails to obtain the required approval, the shares acquired:

may not be voted by the acquiror beyond the 20% threshold level (or any higher threshold level that the other shareholders have approved); and

are subject to redemption at our option.

Section 671 provides that, if the proposed acquiror timely submits to us the information statement required by Section 671, we must submit the question of the voting rights of any shares acquired or proposed to be acquired in a control share acquisition to our shareholders either at a special meeting or at our next annual meeting. A control share acquisition is defined to include any acquisition of shares of stock that exceeds specified levels of ownership (20%, 331/3% and 50%), subject to a number of exclusions, including acquisitions of shares:

in a merger, plan of exchange or sale of asset transaction;

directly by purchase from us;

in a cash tender offer for all outstanding shares if the offer has been approved in advance by our board of directors; and

by employee benefit plans.

*Minnesota Business Combinations Act.* We are subject to Section 673 of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act, which generally prohibits us from engaging in any business combination with an interested shareholder for a period of four years after the date that the shareholder becomes an interested shareholder unless the business combination or the acquisition of shares was approved by a committee of our board of directors composed solely of one or more disinterested directors before the date on which the interested shareholder acquired the relevant shares or on that date but prior to the interested shareholder becoming an interested shareholder. If our board of directors has no disinterested directors, then it must select three or more disinterested persons to constitute the committee. A person is disinterested if that person is not and has not for five years been an officer or an employee of us or a related organization.

In general, an interested shareholder is defined as any person who beneficially owns at least 10% of the votes that all shareholders would be entitled to cast in an election of directors. The term business combination is defined to include the following, subject to various specified exceptions:

any merger of us or any subsidiary with the interested shareholder or any of its affiliates or associates;

any exchange of shares or other securities of us or any subsidiary or of money or other property for shares, other securities, money or property of the interested shareholder or any of its affiliates or associates;

any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition (in a single transaction or a series of transactions) to or with the interested shareholder or any of its affiliates or associates with a market value equal to 10% or more of the market value of our assets, 10% or more of the market value of our outstanding shares or 10% or more of our earning power or net income;

the issuance or transfer by us or any subsidiary (in a single transaction or a series of transactions) of any shares of us or any subsidiary with a market value equal to 5% or more of the market value of our outstanding shares to the interested shareholder or any of its affiliates or associates;

50

#### Table of Contents

the adoption of any plan or proposal of liquidation, dissolution or reincorporation proposed by or on behalf of the interested shareholder or any of its affiliates or associates;

any reclassification of securities, recapitalization, merger of us with any subsidiary, exchange of shares with any subsidiary or other transaction proposed by or on behalf of the interested shareholder or any of its affiliates or associates that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of any of our voting shares owned by the interested shareholder or any of its affiliates or associates; and

any receipt by the interested shareholder or any of its affiliates or associates of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial assistance or any tax credits or other tax advantages provided by or through us or any subsidiary.

*Minnesota Statutory Limitations on Repurchases of Shares from 5% Shareholders.* We are subject to Section 553, Subdivision 3 of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act, which prohibits us from purchasing any of our voting shares owned for less than two years from a 5% shareholder for more than the market value unless:

the transaction has been approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of all shares entitled to vote; or

we make a comparable offer to all holders of shares of the class or series of stock held by the 5% shareholder and to all holders of any class or series into which those securities may be converted.

*Minnesota Fair Price Requirements.* We are subject to Section 675 of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act, which prohibits an offeror from acquiring any of our shares within two years following a takeover offer unless:

the seller is afforded a reasonable opportunity to sell those shares to the offeror on substantially equivalent terms to those provided in the earlier takeover offer; or

the proposed acquisition was approved before the purchase of any shares by the offeror in the earlier takeover offer by a committee of our board of directors comprised solely of directors that satisfy the statutory requirements, including that they not be and have not for five years been officers or employees of us or a related organization and are not affiliates or associates of the offeror.

*Restrictions on Business Combinations in Our Articles of Incorporation.* Our articles of incorporation (as amended and restated) provide that, whether or not a vote of shareholders is otherwise required, the affirmative vote of shareholders holding at least 80% of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors will be required to approve any business combination with a related person unless:

the continuing directors expressly approve the business combination by a majority vote; or

the business combination is a merger, consolidation, exchange of shares or sale of all or substantially all of our assets and the cash or fair market value of the property, securities or other consideration to be received per share by holders of our common stock other than the related person is not less than the highest per share price paid by the related person in acquiring any of its holdings of our common stock.

A related person is an individual, corporation, partnership or other person or entity which, together with its affiliates and associates (as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act), beneficially owns 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. A continuing director is a director who was a member of our board of directors either on January 16,

1984 or immediately prior to the time that any related person involved in the business combination in question became a related person or is a director whose election or nomination for election was approved by a vote of a majority of the continuing directors, provided that in no event will a related person involved in the business combination in question be deemed to be a continuing director. A business combination includes:

any merger or consolidation of us or a subsidiary with or into a related person;

#### **Table of Contents**

any exchange of shares of us or a subsidiary for shares of a related person which would have required the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the voting power of our outstanding shares or the affirmative vote of us in our capacity as a shareholder of the subsidiary;

any sale, lease, exchange, transfer or other disposition (in one or a series of transactions), including a mortgage or other security device, of all or a substantial part (defined as more than 30% of the fair market value of total assets as of the end of the most recent fiscal year) of the assets either of us or of a subsidiary to or with a related person;

any sale, lease, exchange, transfer or other disposition (in one or a series of transactions) of all or any substantial part of the assets of a related person to or with us or a subsidiary;

the issuance to a related person of any securities (with specified exceptions) of us or a subsidiary;

any recapitalization or reclassification of securities that would have the effect of increasing the voting power of a related person; and

any agreement, contract or other arrangement providing for any of the preceding transactions.

*Classified Board of Directors; Addition or Removal of Directors.* Under our articles of incorporation (as amended and restated), members of our board of directors are divided into three approximately equal classes that serve staggered three-year terms. As a result, it would take a minimum of two years to replace a majority of our directors unless they are removed or resign. Our articles of incorporation require the affirmative vote of shareholders holding at least 80% of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors to remove a director except that, if the removal has been expressly approved by a majority of all members of our board of directors; removal requires only the affirmative vote of the shareholders holding a majority of the outstanding shares of our board of directors may increase the number of directors or (ii) the affirmative vote of shareholders holding at least 80% of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote generally in the elections; (i) a majority of all members of our board of directors may increase the number of directors or (ii) the affirmative vote of shareholders holding at least 80% of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors may increase or decrease the number of directors, except that if the increase or decrease has been expressly approved by a majority of all members of our board of directors, except that if the increase or decrease has been expressly approved by a majority of all members of our board of directors, except that if the increase or decrease has been expressly approved by a majority of all members of our board of directors, the increase or decrease requires only the affirmative vote of the shareholders holding a majority of the outstanding shares of our voting stock.

*Supermajority Approval of Certain Amendments.* Our articles of incorporation (as amended and restated) require the affirmative vote of shareholders holding at least 80% of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors to amend or repeal:

the provisions of our articles of incorporation with respect to business combinations; and

the provisions of our articles of incorporation that govern the election and removal of directors (except that, if the proposed amendment has been expressly approved by a majority of all members of our board of directors, amendment requires only the affirmative vote of the shareholders holding a majority of the outstanding shares of our voting stock).

*Undesignated Preferred Stock.* Under our articles of incorporation, our board of directors has the power to authorize the issuance of up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock and to determine the price for, the designations, powers, preferences and rights, including voting rights, of, and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions on, those shares without further vote or action by the shareholders. The issuance of preferred stock with special voting rights or other

features may have the effect of making more difficult or delaying attempts to take control of us or remove incumbent management. Currently 2,000,000 shares of our preferred stock have been designated as Series A Preferred Stock, which are issuable upon the exercise of the preferred stock purchase rights described below.

*No Cumulative Voting.* Holders of our capital stock do not have the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors, which means that holders of a majority of the voting power cast at a meeting have the sole power to elect the director to be elected at that meeting.

#### Table of Contents

*Shareholder Proposal Procedures.* Under our bylaws, shareholders may propose that business be considered at an annual meeting of shareholders only if a shareholder follows specified notice procedures. In general, these procedures require the shareholder to give us written notice not later than the date by which we must receive proposals in order for us to be required to include them in our proxy statement and proxy under the applicable SEC rules. The notice must include:

the name and address of the shareholder who intends to make the proposal;

a representation that the shareholder is a holder of record of our stock entitled to vote at the annual meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the annual meeting to make the proposal;

a brief description of the proposal and the reasons for making it;

a description of any material interest of the shareholder in the matter proposed; and

any other information that would be required to be included in a proxy statement filed by us pursuant to the proxy rules of the SEC with respect to the proposal and its proponent.

*Restriction on Shareholders* Ability to Call Special Meetings. Our bylaws restrict the right of our shareholders to call a special meeting of shareholders for the purpose of considering any action to directly or indirectly facilitate or effect a business combination, including any action to change or otherwise affect the composition of our board of directors for that purpose, by providing that only a shareholder or shareholders holding 25% or more of the voting power of all shares entitled to vote may do so.

*Amendment of Bylaws.* Under our bylaws, our board of directors can adopt, amend or repeal our bylaws by a vote of the majority of the directors, subject to limitations under the Minnesota Business Corporation Act. Further, our shareholders have the power to change or repeal our bylaws by a majority vote of the shareholders present or represented at any regular or special meeting of shareholders called for that purpose.

*Rights Agreement.* Each share of our common stock, including those that may be issued on conversion of the notes, carries with it one right to purchase from us one ten-thousandth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock at an exercise price of \$119 per one ten-thousandth of a share, subject to certain adjustments, once these rights become exercisable. The terms of these rights are described in a Fourth Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of May 9, 2007 by and between us and Computershare Investor Services, LLC (as successor rights agent) (the Rights Agreement ). The rights will expire on July 30, 2013, unless extended or earlier redeemed or exchanged by us as described below.

The rights are attached to all shares of common stock outstanding, and no separate right certificates have been distributed. Either of the following will constitute a distribution date on which the rights will separate from our common stock:

the close of business on the day following a public announcement that a person or group of affiliated or associated persons, other than us and certain of our affiliates (an acquiring person ), has acquired beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock; or

the close of business on the tenth day following the commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in a person or group beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock.

The definition of acquiring person under the Rights Agreement is subject to certain exceptions, including, among others, that a person will not be an acquiring person if our board of directors determines that the person became the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the shares of our common stock inadvertently and the person divests itself, within a reasonable period of time as determined by our board of directors, of a sufficient number of shares so that the person is no longer the beneficial owner of 15% or more of our outstanding shares of common stock.

#### **Table of Contents**

The rights are not exercisable until the distribution date. Until a right is exercised, it will not grant the holder any rights as a shareholder, including any right to vote or to receive dividends. Until the occurrence of a distribution date or the earlier expiration or redemption of the rights:

the rights will be attached to our common stock and will be transferred only with shares of that common stock; and

the transfer of any certificate representing our common stock will constitute transfer of the associated rights.

If a distribution date has occurred, rights certificates will be mailed to holders of record of shares of our common stock as of the close of business on the distribution date and as of and after the distribution date the separate right certificates alone will evidence the rights.

The purchase price payable and the number of securities or other property issuable on exercise of the rights are subject to adjustment from time to time to prevent dilution:

in the event of a stock dividend on, or a subdivision, combination or reclassification of, the Series A Preferred Stock;

upon the grant to holders of the Series A Preferred Stock of certain rights, options or warrants to subscribe for or purchase shares of Series A Preferred Stock or convertible securities at less than the then current market price of the Series A Preferred Stock; or

upon the distribution to holders of the Series A Preferred Stock of evidences of indebtedness or assets (excluding regular periodic cash dividends or dividends payable in shares of Series A Preferred Stock) or of subscription rights or warrants (other than those described in the preceding bullet).

With certain exceptions, no adjustment in the purchase price will be required until cumulative adjustments require an adjustment of at least 1% in the purchase price. We may, in lieu of fractional shares, pay a registered holder of rights an amount in cash based on the closing price (prorated for the fraction) of a share of Series A Preferred Stock on the last trading date prior to the date of exercise.

The number of outstanding rights and the number of one ten-thousandths of a share of Series A Preferred Stock issuable upon exercise of each right also are subject to adjustment in the event of a stock split of our common stock, a stock dividend on our common stock payable in shares of common stock, or subdivisions, consolidations or combinations of our common stock occurring, in any such case, prior to the distribution date.

Shares of Series A Preferred Stock purchasable upon exercise of the rights will not be redeemable. Each share of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to a minimum preferential quarterly dividend payment of \$1.00 per share but will be entitled to an aggregate dividend of 10,000 times the dividend declared per share of common stock. In the event of liquidation, the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to a minimum preferential liquidation payment of \$1.00 per share but will be entitled to an aggregate payment of 10,000 times the payment made per share of common stock. Each share of Series A Preferred Stock will have 10,000 votes, voting together with the holders of common stock. Finally, in the event of any merger, consolidation or other transaction in which shares of common stock are exchanged, each share of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive 10,000 times the amount received per share of common stock. These rights are protected by customary anti-dilution provisions.

Because of the nature of the Series A Preferred Stockholders dividend, liquidation and voting rights, the value of the one ten-thousandth interest in a share of Series A Preferred Stock purchasable upon exercise of each right should

approximate the value of one share of common stock.

If any person or group of affiliated or associated persons becomes an acquiring person (unless the event by which the person became an acquiring person is a transaction described in the following paragraph), then each holder of a right, other than rights beneficially owned by the acquiring person and certain transferees thereof (which will thereafter be void), will thereafter have the right to receive, upon exercise thereof, shares of Series A Preferred Stock with the equivalent features of that number of shares of common stock equal to

the then current exercise price of the right, divided by 50% of the then current market value of the shares of common stock, subject to certain possible adjustments.

If, at any time after there is an acquiring person, we are acquired in certain mergers or other business combination transactions (other than certain transactions with one of our subsidiaries or a transaction with a person who acquired shares of common stock through a tender offer or exchange offer for all of the outstanding shares of our common stock determined by our board of directors to be in the best interests of us and our shareholders) or 50% or more of the assets or earning power of us and our subsidiaries (taken as a whole) are sold, each holder of a right (other than rights which have become void under the terms of the Rights Agreement) will thereafter have the right to receive, upon exercise thereof, that number of shares of common stock of the acquiring company (or, in certain cases, one of its affiliates) equal to the then current exercise price of the right, divided by 50% of the then current market value of the common shares of the issuing party.

In certain events specified in the Rights Agreement, we are permitted temporarily to suspend the exercisability of the rights.

At any time after a person or group of affiliated or associated persons becomes an acquiring person, and prior to the acquisition by a person or group of affiliated or associated persons of 50% or more of our outstanding common stock, our board of directors may exchange all or part of the rights (other than rights which have become void under the terms of the Rights Agreement) for shares of common stock at an exchange ratio of one share of common stock per right, subject to adjustment.

At any time prior to such time as any person becomes an acquiring person, a majority of our independent directors may redeem the rights in whole, but not in part, at a price of \$0.0001 per right, subject to adjustment, payable in cash, shares of common stock or any other form of consideration deemed appropriate by our board of directors. The period of time during which the rights may be redeemed may be extended if no person has become an acquiring person. The redemption of the rights may be made effective at such time, on such basis and with such conditions as a majority of our independent directors in its sole discretion may establish.

We may amend the provisions of the rights agreement in any manner a majority of our board of directors deems necessary or desirable. If, however, any person has become an acquiring person, no amendment may adversely affect the interests of the holders of the rights.

#### **Transfer Agent and Registrar**

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Investor Services, LLC.

#### NASDAQ Global Select Market Listing

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol ADCT.



### MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL TAX CONSEQUENCES

In the opinion of Dorsey & Whitney LLP, the following are the material U.S. federal income and, in the case of non-U.S. holders (as defined below), certain material U.S. federal estate tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the notes and the shares of common stock into which the notes may be converted. This discussion is based upon provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code ), applicable regulations, administrative rulings and judicial decisions currently in effect, any of which may subsequently be changed, possibly retroactively, or interpreted differently by the Internal Revenue Service (the IRS ) so as to result in U.S. federal income and estate tax consequences different from those discussed below. This discussion deals only with a note or share of common stock held as a capital asset by a beneficial owner who purchased the note at its issue price (generally, the first price at which a substantial portion of the notes is issued to the public) pursuant to this offering. This discussion does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income and estate taxes related to the purchase, ownership and disposition of the notes and the shares of common stock into which the notes may be converted and does not deal with all tax consequences that may be relevant to holders in light of their personal circumstances or particular situations, such as:

tax consequences to holders who may be subject to special tax treatment, including dealers in securities or currencies, financial institutions, regulated investment companies, real estate investment trusts, tax-exempt entities, insurance companies and traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting for their securities;

tax consequences to persons holding notes or shares of our common stock as a part of a hedging, integrated, conversion or constructive sale transaction or a straddle;

tax consequences to U.S. holders (as defined below) of notes or shares of common stock whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;

tax consequences to investors in pass-through entities;

alternative minimum tax consequences, if any;

any state, local or foreign tax consequences; and

estate or gift tax consequences, if any, except as set forth below with respect to non-U.S. holders.

If a partnership holds notes or shares of common stock, the tax treatment of a partner will generally depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. If you are a partner in a partnership holding the notes or shares of common stock, you should consult your tax advisors.

If you are considering the purchase of notes, you should consult your tax advisors concerning the U.S. federal income tax consequences to you in light of your own specific situation, as well as consequences arising under the laws of any other taxing jurisdiction.

In this discussion, we use the term U.S. holder to refer to a beneficial owner of notes or shares of common stock received upon conversion of the notes that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, any of the following:

an individual citizen or resident of the United States;

a corporation (or any other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia;

an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

a trust, if it (i) is subject to the primary supervision of a court within the United States and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust, or (ii) has a valid election in effect under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.

We use the term non-U.S. holder to describe a beneficial owner (other than a partnership or other pass-through entity) of notes or shares of common stock received upon conversion of the notes that is not a U.S. holder. Special rules may apply to certain non-U.S. holders such as controlled foreign corporations,

56

passive foreign investment companies, corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid federal income tax or, in certain circumstances, individuals who are U.S. expatriates. These special rules are not addressed in the following discussion. Non-U.S. holders should consult their tax advisors to determine the U.S. federal, state, local and other tax consequences that may be relevant to them.

### **Consequences to U.S. Holders**

### Taxation of Interest

Interest on a note will be taxable to a U.S. holder as ordinary income at the time it is received or accrued in accordance with the U.S. holder s usual method of accounting for tax purposes.

# Additional Interest

If certain events of default occur, as described under Description of the Notes Events of Default, we may elect to pay additional interest on the notes. Because we believe the likelihood that we will pay any such additional interest on the notes is remote, we intend to take the position (and this discussion assumes) that the notes will not be treated as contingent payment debt instruments. Assuming our position is respected, a U.S. holder would be required to include in income such additional interest at the time the payments are received or accrued, in accordance with such U.S. holder s method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Our determination that the notes are not contingent payment debt instruments is not binding on the IRS. If the IRS were to successfully challenge our determination and the notes were treated as contingent payment debt instruments, U.S. holders would be required, among other things, (i) to accrue interest income at a rate higher than the stated interest rate on the notes regardless of their method of tax accounting, (ii) treat as ordinary income, rather than capital gain, any gain recognized on a sale, exchange or redemption of a note, and (iii) treat the entire amount of gain upon a conversion of notes as taxable. Our determination that the notes are not contingent payment debt instruments is binding on U.S. holders unless they disclose their contrary positions to the IRS in the manner that is required by applicable U.S. Treasury regulations.

#### Sale, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition of Notes

Except as provided below under Conversion of Notes, a U.S. holder generally will recognize gain or loss upon the sale, redemption or other taxable disposition of a note equal to the difference between the amount realized upon such sale, redemption or other taxable disposition (less accrued interest which will be taxable as ordinary interest income) and such U.S. holder s tax basis in the note. A U.S. holder s tax basis in a note will generally be equal to the amount that such U.S. holder paid for the note.

Any gain or loss recognized on a taxable disposition of the note will generally be capital gain or loss. If, at the time of the sale, redemption or other taxable disposition of the note, a U.S. holder is treated as holding the note for more than one year, such capital gain or loss will be a long-term capital gain or loss. Otherwise, such capital gain or loss will be a short-term capital gain or loss. In the case of certain non-corporate U.S. holders (including individuals), long-term capital gain generally will be subject to a maximum U.S. federal income tax rate of 15%, which maximum tax rate currently is scheduled to increase to 20% for dispositions occurring during taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. A U.S. holder s ability to deduct capital losses may be limited.

# **Conversion** of Notes

A U.S. holder generally will not recognize any income, gain or loss on the conversion of a note into common stock, except with respect to cash received in lieu of a fractional share of common stock and the fair market value of any common stock attributable to accrued and unpaid interest, subject to the discussion under Constructive Distributions below regarding the possibility that certain determinations of or adjustments to the conversion rate of the notes may be treated as taxable stock dividends. The U.S. holder s aggregate tax basis in the common stock (including any fractional share for which cash is paid, but excluding shares attributable to

accrued interest) will equal the U.S. holder s tax basis in the note. The U.S. holder s holding period in the common stock (other than shares attributable to accrued interest) will include the holding period in the note.

With respect to cash received in lieu of a fractional share of our common stock, a U.S. holder would be treated as if the fractional share were issued and received and then immediately redeemed for cash. Accordingly, the U.S. holder generally would recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the cash received and that portion of the holder s tax basis in the common stock (determined as discussed above) attributable to the fractional share.

The value of any portion of our common stock that is attributable to accrued and unpaid interest on the notes not yet included in income by a U.S. holder would be taxed as ordinary income. The basis in any shares of common stock attributable to accrued and unpaid interest would equal the fair market value of such shares when received. The holding period in any shares of common stock attributable to accrued and unpaid interest would be to accrued and unpaid interest would be attributable to accrued and unpaid interest would equal the fair market value of such shares when received. The holding period in any shares of common stock attributable to accrued and unpaid interest would begin on the day after the date of conversion.

# Distributions

Distributions made on our common stock generally will be included in a U.S. holder s income as ordinary dividend income to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits. Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits will be treated as a return of capital to the extent of a U.S. holder s tax basis in the common stock and thereafter as capital gain from the sale or exchange of such common stock. With respect to dividends received by certain non-corporate U.S. holders, for taxable years beginning before January 1, 2011, the lower applicable long-term capital gains rates may apply if certain holding period requirements are satisfied. Dividends received by corporate U.S. holders may be eligible for a dividends-received deduction, subject to applicable limitations.

#### **Constructive Distributions**

The conversion rate of the notes will be adjusted in certain circumstances, as described in Description of the Notes Conversion of Notes Conversion Rate Adjustments and Description of the Notes Conversion of Notes Increase of Conversion Rate upon Certain Fundamental Changes. Adjustments (or failures to make adjustments) that have the effect of increasing a U.S. holder s proportionate interest in our assets or earnings may in some circumstances result in a deemed distribution to a U.S. holder for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Adjustments to the conversion rate made pursuant to a bona fide reasonable adjustment formula that have the effect of preventing the dilution of the interest of the holders of the notes, however, will generally not be considered to result in a deemed distribution to a U.S. holder.

Certain of the possible conversion rate adjustments provided in the notes (including, without limitation, adjustments in respect of taxable dividends to holders of our common stock and possibly adjustments to the conversion rate upon certain fundamental changes) will generally not qualify as being pursuant to a bona fide reasonable adjustment formula. If such an adjustment is made and does not so qualify, a U.S. holder generally will be deemed to have received a distribution even if the U.S. holder has not received any cash or property as a result of such adjustment.

We intend to take the position, although it is not free from doubt, that the determination of a conversion rate of the notes in excess of the base conversion rate, in accordance with the formula set forth under Description of the Notes Conversion of Notes Conversion Rate, does not result in a deemed stock distribution. However, in certain circumstances, including if we begin paying dividends, it is possible that, upon the determination of the conversion rate, the excess of the conversion rate over the base conversion rate may be treated as a distribution subject to U.S. federal income tax. Any deemed distribution, including a deemed distribution arising in connection with a conversion, will be taxable as a dividend, return of capital, or capital gain in accordance with the description above under Distributions. It is not clear whether a constructive dividend deemed paid to a U.S. holder would be eligible for

the preferential rates of U.S. federal income tax applicable in respect of certain dividends received. It is also unclear whether corporate holders would be entitled to claim the dividends-received deduction with respect to any such constructive dividends.

#### **Table of Contents**

Because a constructive dividend deemed received by a U.S. holder would not give rise to any cash from which any applicable withholding tax could be satisfied, if we pay backup withholding taxes on behalf of a U.S. holder (because such U.S. holder failed to establish an exemption from backup withholding taxes), we may, at our option, set off any such payment against payments of cash and common stock payable on the notes.

#### Sale, Certain Redemptions or Other Taxable Disposition of Common Stock

Upon the sale, certain redemptions or other taxable disposition of our common stock, a U.S. holder generally will recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference between (i) the amount of cash and the fair market value of any property received upon such disposition and (ii) the U.S. holder s tax basis in the common stock. Such capital gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if a U.S. holder s holding period in the common stock is more than one year at the time of the taxable disposition. Long-term capital gains recognized by certain non-corporate U.S. holders (including individuals) will generally be subject to a maximum U.S. federal income tax rate of 15%, which maximum is currently scheduled to increase to 20% for dispositions occurring during taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

#### Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Information reporting requirements generally will apply to payments of interest on the notes and dividends on shares of common stock and to the proceeds of a sale of a note or share of common stock paid to a U.S. holder unless the U.S. holder is an exempt recipient (such as a corporation). A backup withholding tax will apply to those payments if the U.S. holder fails to provide its correct taxpayer identification number or certification of exempt status, or if the U.S. holder is notified by the IRS that it has failed to report in full payments of interest and dividend income. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowed as a refund or a credit against a U.S. holder s U.S. federal income tax liability provided the required information is furnished timely to the IRS.

#### **Consequences to Non-U.S. Holders**

#### **Payments of Interest**

Subject to the discussion below concerning backup withholding, U.S. federal income tax (including the 30% U.S. federal withholding tax) will not apply to any payment of interest to a non-U.S. holder provided that:

interest paid on the note is not effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder s conduct of a trade or business in the United States;

the non-U.S. holder does not actually or constructively own 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock that are entitled to vote within the meaning of section 871(h)(3) of the Code;

the non-U.S. holder is not a controlled foreign corporation that is related to us (actually or constructively) through stock ownership;

the non-U.S. holder is not a bank whose receipt of interest on a note is described in section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code; and

(a) the non-U.S. holder provides its name and address, and certifies, under penalties of perjury, that it is not a U.S. person (which certification may be made on an IRS Form W-8BEN or other applicable form) or (b) the non-U.S. holder holds the notes through certain foreign intermediaries or certain foreign partnerships, and the non-U.S. holder and the foreign intermediary or foreign partnership satisfy the certification requirements of

applicable Treasury regulations. Special certification rules apply to non-U.S. holders that are pass-through entities.

If a non-U.S. holder cannot satisfy the requirements described above, payments of interest will be subject to the 30% U.S. federal withholding tax, unless the non-U.S. holder provides us with a properly executed (i) IRS Form W-8BEN (or other applicable form) claiming an exemption from or reduction in withholding under the

benefit of an applicable income tax treaty or (ii) IRS Form W-8ECI (or other applicable form) stating that interest paid on the notes is not subject to withholding tax because it is effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder s conduct of a trade or business in the United States. If a non-U.S. holder is engaged in a trade or business in the United States and interest on the notes is effectively connected with the conduct of that trade or business and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a U.S. permanent establishment, then, although the non-U.S. holder will be exempt from the 30% withholding tax (provided the certification requirements discussed above are satisfied), the non-U.S. holder will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on that interest on a net income basis in the same manner as if the non-U.S. holder were a U.S. holder. In addition, if a non-U.S. holder is a foreign corporation, it may be subject to a branch profits tax equal to 30% (or lesser rate under an applicable income tax treaty) of its earnings and profits for the taxable year, subject to adjustments, that are effectively connected with its conduct of a trade or business in the United States.

# Dividends and Constructive Distributions

Any dividends paid to a non-U.S. holder with respect to the shares of common stock (and any deemed dividends resulting from certain adjustments, or failure to make adjustments, to the conversion rate, see Consequences to U.S. Holders Constructive Distributions above) will be subject to withholding tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty. As discussed above under Consequences to U.S. Holders Constructive Distributions, the determination of a conversion rate in excess of the base conversion rate may also, in some circumstances, be treated as a deemed distribution on conversion in the amount of such excess and, accordingly, such excess may be subject to the 30% withholding tax. However, dividends that are effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United States and, where a tax treaty applies, are attributable to a U.S. permanent establishment, are not subject to the withholding tax, but instead are subject to U.S. federal income tax on a net income basis in the same manner as if the non-U.S. holder were a U.S. holder. In addition, any such effectively connected income received by a foreign corporation may, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional branch profits tax at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty. Certain certification requirements and disclosure requirements must be complied with in order for effectively connected income to be exempt from withholding. Because a constructive dividend deemed received by a non-U.S. holder would not give rise to any cash from which any applicable withholding tax could be satisfied, if we pay withholding taxes on behalf of a non-U.S. holder, we may, at our option, set off any such payment against payments of cash and common stock payable on the notes.

A non-U.S. holder of shares of common stock who wishes to claim the benefit of an applicable treaty rate is required to satisfy applicable certification and other requirements. If a non-U.S. holder is eligible for a reduced rate of U.S. withholding tax pursuant to an income tax treaty, it may obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld by timely filing an appropriate claim for refund with the IRS.

# Sale, Certain Redemptions, Conversion or Other Taxable Dispositions of Notes or Shares of Common Stock

A non-U.S. holder generally will not recognize any income, gain or loss on the conversion of a note into common stock, subject to the discussion under Dividends and Constructive Distributions regarding the possibility that certain determinations of or adjustments to the conversion rate of the notes may be treated as taxable stock dividends. Stock issued on conversion that is attributable to accrued and unpaid interest will be treated as described above in Payments of Interest. The treatment of cash received in lieu of a fractional share of stock upon conversion is discussed below.

Gain realized by a non-U.S. holder on the sale, certain redemptions or other taxable disposition of common stock or a note (including the payment of cash in lieu of a fractional share of stock on conversion of a note) will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax unless:

that gain is effectively connected with the non-U.S. holder s conduct of a trade or business in the United States (and, if required by an applicable income treaty, is attributable to a U.S. permanent establishment);

the non-U.S. holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of that disposition and certain other conditions are met; or

we are or have been a U.S. real property holding corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes during the shorter of the non-U.S. holder s holding period or the 5-year period ending on the date of disposition of the notes or common stock, as the case may be. We believe that we are not, and we do not anticipate becoming, a U.S. real property holding corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

If a non-U.S. holder is described in the first bullet point above, it will be subject to tax on the net gain derived from the sale, redemption or other taxable disposition under regular graduated U.S. federal income tax rates and in the same manner as if the non-U.S. holder were a U.S. holder. In addition, if a non-U.S. holder is a foreign corporation, it may be subject to the branch profits tax equal to 30% of its effectively connected earnings and profits for that taxable year, or at such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty. If a non-U.S. holder is an individual described in the second bullet point above, such holder will be subject to a flat 30% tax on the gain derived from the sale, redemption or other taxable disposition, which may be offset by U.S. source capital losses, even though such holder is not considered a resident of the United States. Any common stock which a non-U.S. holder receives on the conversion of a note that is attributable to accrued interest will be subject to U.S. federal income tax in accordance with the rules for taxation of interest described above under

# U.S. Federal Estate Taxes

The estate of a non-U.S. holder will not be subject to U.S. federal estate tax on the notes beneficially owned by the non-U.S. holder at the time of his or her death provided that:

any interest payments to the non-U.S. holder on the notes would be eligible for exemption from the 30% U.S. federal withholding tax under the rules described in Payments of Interest, without regard to the certification requirements described in the last bullet point; and

interest on the notes would not have been, if received at the time of the non-U.S. holder s death, effectively connected with the conduct by the non-U.S. holder of a trade or business in the United States.

The estate of a non-U.S. holder will be subject to U.S. federal estate tax on common stock beneficially owned by the non-U.S. holder at his or her death, unless an applicable estate tax treaty provides otherwise. Estates of decedents who are not citizens or residents of the United States (as defined for U.S. federal estate tax purposes) are generally allowed a statutory credit that has the effect of offsetting the U.S. federal estate tax imposed on the first \$60,000 of the taxable estate.

# Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Generally, we must report annually to the IRS and to non-U.S. holders the amount of interest and dividends paid to non-U.S. holders and the amount of tax, if any, withheld with respect to those payments. Copies of the information returns reporting such interest, dividends and withholding may also be made available to the tax authorities in the country in which a non-U.S. holder resides under the provisions of an applicable income tax treaty.

In general, a non-U.S. holder will not be subject to backup withholding with respect to payments of interest or dividends that we make, provided the statement described above in the last bullet point under Payments of Interest has been received and we do not have actual knowledge or reason to know that the holder is a U.S. person, as defined under the Code, who is not an exempt recipient. However, a non-U.S. holder will be subject to information reporting and, depending on the circumstances, backup withholding with respect to payments of the proceeds of the sale of a note or share of our common stock within the United States or conducted through certain U.S.-related financial intermediaries, unless the statement described above has been received and the payor does not have actual knowledge

or reason to know that a holder is a U.S. person, as defined under the Code, who is not an exempt recipient, or the non-U.S. holder otherwise establishes an exemption. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowed as a refund or a credit against a non-U.S. holder s U.S. federal income tax liability provided the required information is furnished timely to the IRS.

#### UNDERWRITING

Under the terms and subject to the conditions contained in an underwriting agreement dated December , 2007, we have agreed to sell to the underwriters named below, for whom Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated are acting as representatives, the following respective principal amounts of notes:

Underwriters	Principal Amount of 2015 Notes	Principal Amount of 2017 Notes
Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated. J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.	\$	\$
Total	\$ 200,000,000	\$ 200,000,000

The underwriting agreement provides that the underwriters are obligated to purchase all of the notes if any are purchased, other than those notes covered by the over-allotment option described below. The underwriting agreement also provides that if an underwriter defaults on its purchase commitments, the purchase commitments of non-defaulting underwriters may be increased or the offering may be terminated.

We have granted to the underwriters an over-allotment option to purchase on a pro rata basis up to an additional \$25.0 million principal amount of the 2015 notes and an additional \$25.0 million principal amount of the 2017 notes at the initial offering price less the underwriting discounts and commissions. The underwriters may exercise this option at any time within the 30-day period beginning on the date of this prospectus.

The underwriters propose to offer the notes initially at the offering price on the cover page of this prospectus and to selling group members at that price less a selling concession of % of the principal amount per note. The underwriters and selling group members may allow a discount of % of the principal amount per note on sales to other broker/dealers. After the initial public offering the representatives may change the offering price and concession and discount to broker/dealers.

The following table summarizes the compensation and estimated expenses we will pay:

	Per 2015 Note		Per 2017 Note		Total	
	Without	With	Without	With	Without	With
	Over-	Over-	Over-	Over-	Over-	Over-
	Allotment	Allotment	Allotment	Allotment	Allotment	Allotment
Underwriting discounts and commissions payable by us	¢	\$	¢	¢	¢	¢
Expenses payable by us	\$	\$	ф	ф	ъ	\$
	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$

The notes are a new issue of securities with no established trading market. One or more of the underwriters intends to make a secondary market for the notes. However, they are not obligated to do so and may discontinue making a secondary market for the notes at any time without notice. No assurance can be given as to how liquid the trading market for the notes will be.

We have agreed that we will not offer, sell, pledge, contract to sell or otherwise dispose of, contract to purchase or grant any option, right or warrant to purchase directly or indirectly, enter into any swap, hedge or any other agreement that transfers, in whole or in part, the economic consequences of ownership, establish or increase a put equivalent position or liquidate or decrease a call equivalent position within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act, or file with the SEC a registration statement (other than a registration statement relating to our employee stock plans in effect on the date of this prospectus) under the Securities Act relating to, any securities substantially similar to the 2015 notes or the 2017 notes, shares of our common stock, or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any shares of our common stock, or publicly disclose our intention to make any offer, sale, disposition or filing, without the prior written consent

62

#### **Table of Contents**

of Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated for a period of 90 days after the date of this prospectus, subject to certain exceptions, including an exception that permits us to issue options under our existing stock option plans and shares upon exercise of outstanding options and an exception that permits the issuance of shares of our common stock, or options or warrants to purchase shares of our common stock, in exchange for the assets of, or a controlling equity interest in, another entity in connection with the acquisition by us of such entity, *provided*, this exception is not available until the 30th day after the date of this prospectus and prior to the issuance of such shares, options or warrants, each recipient of such shares, options or warrants enters into a lock-up agreement substantially similar to the lock-up agreement that our directors and officers have executed.

Our directors and executive officers have agreed, subject to certain exceptions, including exceptions that permit our directors and executive officers to make certain gifts, make certain transfers to family members or trusts, to dispose of an aggregate of 75,000 shares of our common stock each and to enter into a Rule 10b5-1 selling plan (but not to sell or otherwise dispose of any shares of our common stock pursuant to such Rule 10b5-1 selling plan during the lock-up period described below), that they will not offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of our common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any shares of our common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable or our common stock, or such other securities, whether any such aforementioned transaction is to be settled by delivery of our common stock or such other securities, in cash or otherwise, or publicly disclose the intention to make any such offer, sale, pledge or disposition, or to enter into any such transaction, swap, hedge or other arrangement or make any demand for or exercise any right with respect to, the registration of our common stock or any security convertible into or exercisable or exercisable or exercisable for our common stock, without, in each case, the prior written consent of Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated for a period of 60 days after the date of this prospectus.

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or to contribute to payments which the underwriters may be required to make in that respect.

Certain of the underwriters and their affiliates have performed or may perform investment banking and financial advisory services for us from time to time, for which they have or will receive customary compensation.

In connection with the offering the underwriters may engage in stabilizing transactions, over-allotment transactions, syndicate covering transactions and penalty bids and passive market making in accordance with Regulation M under the Exchange Act.

Stabilizing transactions permit bids to purchase the underlying security so long as the stabilizing bids do not exceed a specified maximum.

Over-allotment involves sales by the underwriters of notes in excess of the principal amount of the notes the underwriters are obligated to purchase, which creates a syndicate short position. The short position may be either a covered short position or a naked short position. In a covered short position, the principal amount of the notes over-allotted by the underwriters is not greater than the principal amount of the notes that they may purchase in the over-allotment option. In a naked short position, the principal amount of the notes involved is greater than the principal amount of the notes involved is short position by either exercising their over-allotment option and/or purchasing notes in the open market.

Syndicate covering transactions involve purchases of the notes in the open market after the distribution has been completed in order to cover syndicate short positions. In determining the source of the notes to close out the short position, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of the notes available for purchase in the open market as compared to the price at which they may purchase notes through the

over-allotment option. If the underwriters sell more notes than could be covered by the over-allotment option, a naked short position, that position can only be closed out by buying notes in

#### **Table of Contents**

the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the notes in the open market after pricing that could adversely affect investors who purchase in the offering.

Penalty bids permit the representatives to reclaim a selling concession from a syndicate member when the notes originally sold by the syndicate member are purchased in a stabilizing transaction or a syndicate covering transaction to cover syndicate short positions.

In passive market making, market makers in the notes who are underwriters or prospective underwriters may, subject to limitations, make bids for or purchases of the notes until the time, if any, at which a stabilizing bid is made.

These stabilizing transactions, syndicate covering transactions and penalty bids may have the effect of raising or maintaining the market price of the notes or preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of the notes. As a result the price of the notes may be higher than the price that might otherwise exist in the open market. These transactions, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on the web sites maintained by one or more of the underwriters participating in this offering and one or more of the underwriters participating in this offering may distribute prospectuses electronically. The representatives may agree to allocate securities to underwriters for sale to their online brokerage account holders. Internet distributions will be allocated by the underwriters that will make internet distributions on the same basis as other allocations.

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a Relevant Member State ), each underwriter has represented and agreed that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the Relevant Implementation Date ) it has not made and will not make an offer of notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this prospectus to the public in that Relevant Member State other than:

to legal entities which are authorized or regulated to operate in the financial markets or, if not so authorized or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities;

to any legal entity which has two or more of (1) an average of at least 250 employees during the last financial year; (2) a total balance sheet of more than 43,000,000 and (3) an annual net turnover of more than 50,000,000, as shown in its last annual or consolidated accounts;

to fewer than 100 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the prior consent of the underwriter for any such offer; or

in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of notes shall require ADC or any underwriter to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an offer of notes to the public in relation to any notes in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, and the expression Prospectus Directive means Directive 2003/71/EC and includes any relevant

implementing measure in each Relevant Member State.

#### Table of Contents

Each underwriter has represented and agreed that:

it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act (FSMA)) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to ADC; and

it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

All of the foregoing restrictions relating to the notes offered hereby also apply to the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes.

65

### NOTICE TO CANADIAN RESIDENTS

#### **Resale Restrictions**

The distribution of the notes in Canada is being made only on a private placement basis exempt from the requirement that we prepare and file a prospectus with the securities regulatory authorities in each province where trades of notes are made. Any resale of the notes in Canada must be made under applicable securities laws which will vary depending on the relevant jurisdiction, and which may require resales to be made under available statutory exemptions or under a discretionary exemption granted by the applicable Canadian securities regulatory authority. Purchasers are advised to seek legal advice prior to any resale of the notes.

#### **Representations of Purchasers**

By purchasing notes in Canada and accepting a purchase confirmation a purchaser is representing to us and the dealer from whom the purchase confirmation is received that:

the purchaser is entitled under applicable provincial securities laws to purchase the notes without the benefit of a prospectus qualified under those securities laws,

where required by law, that the purchaser is purchasing as principal and not as agent,

the purchaser has reviewed the text above under Resale Restrictions, and

the purchaser acknowledges and consents to the provision of specified information concerning its purchase of the notes to the regulatory authority that by law is entitled to collect the information.

Further details concerning the legal authority for this information is available on request.

#### **Rights of Action Ontario Purchasers Only**

Under Ontario securities legislation, certain purchasers who purchase a security offered by this prospectus during the period of distribution will have a statutory right of action for damages, or while still the owner of the notes, for rescission against us in the event that this prospectus contains a misrepresentation without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation. The right of action for damages is exercisable not later than the earlier of 180 days from the date the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action and three years from the date on which payment is made for the notes. The right of action for rescission is exercisable not later than 180 days from the date on which payment is made for the notes. If a purchaser elects to exercise the right of action for rescission, the purchaser will have no right of action for damages against us. In no case will the amount recoverable in any action exceed the price at which the notes were offered to the purchaser and if the purchaser is shown to have purchased the securities with knowledge of the damages that are proven to not represent the depreciation in value of the notes as a result of the misrepresentation relied upon. These rights are in addition to, and without derogation from, any other rights or remedies available at law to an Ontario purchaser. The foregoing is a summary of the rights available to an Ontario purchaser. Ontario purchaser should refer to the complete text of the relevant statutory provisions.

#### **Enforcement of Legal Rights**

All of our directors and officers as well as the experts named herein may be located outside of Canada and, as a result, it may not be possible for Canadian purchasers to effect service of process within Canada upon us or those persons. All or a substantial portion of our assets and the assets of those persons may be located outside of Canada and, as a result, it may not be possible to satisfy a judgment against us or those persons in Canada or to enforce a judgment obtained in Canadian courts against us or those persons outside of Canada.

### **Taxation and Eligibility for Investment**

Canadian purchasers of notes should consult their own legal and tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of an investment in the notes in their particular circumstances and about the eligibility of the notes for investment by the purchaser under relevant Canadian legislation.

66

# VALIDITY OF THE SECURITIES

The validity of the notes and of the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes will be passed upon for ADC by Dorsey & Whitney LLP, Minneapolis, Minnesota. Certain matters will be passed upon for the underwriters by Davis Polk & Wardwell, Menlo Park, California.

### EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of ADC Telecommunications, Inc. appearing in ADC Telecommunications, Inc. s Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended October 31, 2007 (including the schedule appearing therein), and the effectiveness of ADC Telecommunications, Inc. s internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2007 included therein, have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their reports thereon, included therein, and incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements and schedule and ADC Telecommunications, Inc. s management s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2007 are incorporated herein by reference in reliance upon such reports given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

#### 68

### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Our SEC filings are available to the public through the Internet at the SEC web site at http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file with the SEC at the SEC s public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C., 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference facilities and their copy charges. You may also obtain copies of our SEC filings at the office of The NASDAQ Stock Market located at One Liberty Plaza, 165 Broadway, New York, NY 10006. For further information on obtaining copies of our public filings at The NASDAQ Stock Market, you should call 1-212-401-8700.

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-3 to register the notes offered hereby and the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes. This prospectus is part of the registration statement. As allowed by SEC rules, this prospectus does not contain all of the information that is in the registration statement or the exhibits and schedules to the registration statement. For further information regarding ADC Telecommunications, Inc., investors should refer to the registration statement and its exhibits and schedules. The registration statement is available at the SEC web site at http://www.sec.gov. A copy of the registration statement may also be inspected, without charge, at the offices of the SEC at the address listed above.

The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference the information we file with it, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information that we incorporate by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus, and later information that we file with the SEC will automatically update and supersede more dated information. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below and any future filings made by us with the SEC under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, after the date of the initial filing of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part and before the completion of the offering of all notes offered hereunder or the filing of a post-effective amendment that deregisters all notes then remaining unsold:

our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended October 31, 2007;

our current reports on Form 8-K filed on November 15, 2007 and November 16, 2007; and

the description of our common stock and preferred stock purchase rights included in our registration statements on Form 8-A filed with the SEC, including any amendment or reports filed for the purpose of updating such description, and in any other registration statement or report filed by us under the Exchange Act, including any amendment or report filed for the purpose of updating such description.

You may request a copy of these filings (excluding exhibits to those documents unless they are specifically incorporated by reference into those documents) at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at the following address and phone number:

ADC Investor Relations P.O. Box 1101 Minneapolis, MN 55440-1101 (952) 917-0991

### PART II

# INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

#### Item 14. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.

The following table sets forth all expenses, other than the underwriting discounts and commissions, payable by the Registrant in connection with the sale of the securities being registered. All amounts shown are estimates except for the registration fee.

SEC Registration Fee	\$ *
Accounting Fees and Expenses	100,000
Legal Fees and Expenses	350,000
Printing Fees	50,000
Fees and Expenses of Trustee and Counsel	20,000
Miscellaneous	*
Total	\$ *

\* Omitted because the registration fee is being deferred pursuant to Rule 456(b).

#### Item 15. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Section 521 of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act provides that a company shall, subject to certain limitations, indemnify officers and directors made or threatened to be made a party to a proceeding by reason of that officer or director s former or present official capacity with the company. As required, we will indemnify that person against judgments, penalties, fines, settlements and reasonable expenses if the officer or director:

has not been indemnified by another organization;

acted in good faith;

has not received an improper personal benefit and Section 255 regarding director conflicts of interests, if applicable, has been satisfied;

assuming the case is a criminal proceeding, the person had no reasonable cause to believe the conduct was unlawful; and

reasonably believed that the conduct was in the best interests of the company or, in the case of an officer or director who is or was serving at the request of the company as a director, officer, partner, trustee, employee or agent of another organization or employee benefit plan, reasonably believed that the conduct was not opposed to the best interests of the company.

Article 7 of our Articles of Incorporation, as amended and restated, provides that our directors shall not be liable to ADC or our shareholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability:

for any breach of the director s duty of loyalty to ADC or our shareholders; for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; under Section 559 of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act (for certain illegal distributions); for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit; or for any act or omission occurring prior to the date when Article 7 became effective. II-1

Article IX of our restated Bylaws provides that we shall indemnify officers and directors to the extent permitted by Section 521 of the Minnesota Business Corporation Act described above.

We maintain directors and officers liability insurance to assist in funding indemnification of directors and officers for certain liabilities.

### Item 16. Exhibits.

#### Exhibit Number

# **Description of Exhibit**

- 1.1 Form of Underwriting Agreement among the Registrant and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, as representatives of the several underwriters.
- 4.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3-a to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 29, 2005).
- 4.2 Restated Bylaws effective April 18, 2005 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3-f to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 29, 2005).
- 4.3 Rights Agreement, as amended and restated as of May 9, 2007, between the Registrant and Computershare Investor Services, LLC, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4-b to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form 8-A12G/A, as filed with the SEC on May 11, 2007).
- 4.4 Form of Indenture between the Registrant and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (including form of Convertible Subordinated Note due 2015) (the 2015 Indenture ).
- 4.5 Form of Indenture between the Registrant and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (including form of Convertible Subordinated Note due 2017) (the 2017 Indenture ).
- 5.1 Opinion of Dorsey & Whitney LLP.
- 8.1 Opinion of Dorsey & Whitney LLP as to certain U.S. federal income tax consequences (included in Exhibit 5.1)
- 12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
- 23.1 Consent of Dorsey & Whitney LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
- 23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
- 24.1 Powers of Attorney.
- 25.1 Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility and Qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 of U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee under the 2015 Indenture and the 2017 Indenture.

# Item 17. Undertakings.

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes:

(a)(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

(i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

(ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of this registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was

registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the Calculation of Registration Fee table in the effective registration statement; and

#### **Table of Contents**

(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;

*provided, however*, that paragraphs (a)(1)(i), (a)(1)(ii) and (a)(1)(iii) of this section do not apply if the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the Registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement, or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of this registration statement.

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.

(3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

(4) That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser:

(i) Each prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and

(ii) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), 424(b)(5), or 424(b)(7) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), 415(a)(1)(vii), or 415(a)(1)(x) for the purpose of providing the information required by Section 10(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of the securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof; *provided, however*, that no statement made in a registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date.

(5) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial distribution of the securities, the undersigned Registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned Registrant pursuant to this registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned Registrant will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:

(i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned Registrant relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;

(ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned Registrant or used or referred to by the undersigned Registrant;

#### **Table of Contents**

(iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the undersigned Registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned Registrant; and

(iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned Registrant to the purchaser.

(6) That, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the Registrant s annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan s annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.

(7) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

II-4

# Table of Contents

### SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the Registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Eden Prairie, State of Minnesota, on December 18, 2007.

ADC TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC.

By: /s/ Robert E. Switz

Robert E. Switz President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities indicated on December 18, 2007.

Signature	Title
/s/ Robert E. Switz	President and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer)
Robert E. Switz	(principal chocalité officiel)
/s/ James G. Mathews	Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer)
James G. Mathews	(principal intalicial criteci)
/s/ Steven G. Nemitz	Vice President and Controller (principal accounting officer)
Steven G. Nemitz	(principal accounting officer)
/s/ John A. Blanchard III	Director
John A. Blanchard III	
/s/ John J. Boyle III	Director
John J. Boyle III	
/s/ Mickey P. Foret	Director
Mickey P. Foret	
/s/ J. Kevin Gilligan	Director
J. Kevin Gilligan	
/s/ Lois M. Martin	Director
Table of Contents	

Lois M. Martin	
/s/ John E. Rehfeld	Director
John E. Rehfeld	
/s/ William R. Spivey	Director
William R. Spivey	
	II-5

Signature	Titl e
/s/ Larry W. Wangberg	Director
Larry W. Wangberg	
/s/ John D. Wunsch	Director
John D. Wunsch	
	II-6

# EXHIBIT INDEX

# Exhibit

Number

### **Description of Exhibit**

- 1.1 Form of Underwriting Agreement among the Registrant and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, as representatives of the several underwriters.
- 4.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3-a to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 29, 2005).
- 4.2 Restated Bylaws effective April 18, 2005 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3-f to the Registrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 29, 2005).
- 4.3 Rights Agreement, as amended and restated as of May 9, 2007, between the Registrant and Computershare Investor Services, LLC, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4-b to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form 8-A12G/A, as filed with the SEC on May 11, 2007).
- 4.4 Form of Indenture between the Registrant and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (including form of Convertible Subordinated Note due 2015) (the 2015 Indenture ).
- 4.5 Form of Indenture between the Registrant and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (including form of Convertible Subordinated Note due 2017) (the 2017 Indenture ).
- 5.1 Opinion of Dorsey & Whitney LLP.
- 8.1 Opinion of Dorsey & Whitney LLP as to certain U.S. federal income tax consequences (included in Exhibit 5.1)
- 12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
- 23.1 Consent of Dorsey & Whitney LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
- 23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
- 24.1 Powers of Attorney.
- 25.1 Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility and Qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 of U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee under the 2015 Indenture and the 2017 Indenture.